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Statement by the 
Chairman of the 
Management Board

Taavi Veskimägi
Chairman of the Management Board 

Elering has become the competence centre  
of the Estonian energy sector

Availability of electricity at any time is vitally important to the modern society. Since Elering 
is the company responsible for supplying the Estonian consumers with electricity, our entire 
activity is subject to higher expectations and attention.

As of the end of 2011 Elering had been operating as a separate system administrator independent 
from other market participants for about two years. This has meant close cooperation with  
the Estonian state as the owner of the company aimed at designating strategic choices of the 
Estonian energy sector and ensuring competition and equal treatment in the electricity market.  
In addition to that, this period of time saw the making of major and important investment 
decisions aimed at improving security of supply and more effective functioning of the electricity 
market. These two years showed that separating the electricity system operator and the main 
network owner was the right choice – we are developing and managing the Estonian electricity 
system based on the public interest. This is the policy and direction of entire Europe, which has 
successfully started in 2009 with the so-called Third Energy Package. 

We can be successful in our everyday work aimed at development of the electricity network 
and the electricity market only if we engage as much competence as possible in our activities, 
and share it with our partners, general public and interest groups. This doesn’t only mean 
application of high standards to our personnel policy, but also continuous cooperation with 
all the institutions and organisations that contribute to the Estonian energy sector. In 2011 
we launched our energy sector competence centre, in which we engage the experts through 
the Advisory Council for Electricity Market and Advisory Council for Developing the Estonian 
Electricity Network that regularly work together. 

We also closely cooperate with supranational partners within the framework of the European 
Union Energy and Climate Policy in the same open manner. A number of events of global 
significance happened in the previous year, making work of the system administrators who 
manage and develop the electricity systems throughout the entire Europe more challenging  
than ever before. The nuclear disaster that happened at Fukushima put safety of the nuclear  
energy under question, and the resulting decision by Germany to close a number of nuclear 
plants  meant that the risks of the lack of security of supply and production capacity increased  
as in Germany, so in its neighbouring states. 
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The expiry of the Kyoto protocol in 2012 highlighted  
the issue of sustainability of the EU’s Climate Policy.  
The International Durban Climate Change Conference 
demonstrated that most states support the move 
towards legally binding agreements concerning restric-
tions on greenhouse gas emissions. As the result of 
the Conference the Kyoto protocol was extended, which 
means that even some big economies will have to start 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions for the first time. 
The same goal is established by the European Commis-
sion’s Energy Roadmap 2050, which shows the EU’s 
strong determination to continue with the ambitious 
policy aimed at reduction of CO2 emissions. We must be 
able to take these principles into consideration already 
now, as we plan management of the energy sector. 

One of the cornerstones of ensuring security of the 
electricity supply is the functioning of the free electricity 
market. The vision of the EU’s energy sector to unite the 
electricity markets into one competitive and effectively 
functioning market serves the interests of the both pro- 
ducers and consumers – the effectively functioning elec-
tricity market increases competition, brings more balanced  
price levels, and creates opportunities for electricity trade 
in a much larger market. In the light of that it feels good 
to mention that Nord Pool Spot electricity exchange was 
successfully launched in Estonia, and that both reliability 
of the marketplace and volumes of trade increased in 
2011. The next important milestone on the way towards 
better development of the market is its full opening for 
all Estonian consumers from the beginning of 2013. 

The first step towards real competition in the Northern 
Baltic region is ensuring strong electricity connections; 
and investments into the cross-border connections 
constitute a significant part of Elering’s investment 
activities. The passing year clearly demonstrated how 
powerful interstate connections serve the interests of 
the producers and consumers. The second undersea cable 
between Finland and Sweden FennoSkan 2 that was 
put into operation in the middle of November, created a 
better access to the Scandinavian hydroelectricity for our 
consumers, which contributed to the fact that the open 
market electricity price for home consumers in December 
was basically the same as the price of the regulated  
market. Also, we put a cornerstone to the second 
Estonia-Finland connection EstLink 2, which means that 
in a few years there will be even fewer obstacles to the 
access to electricity of the Nordic States.

In 2011 we also successfully progressed with other Elering’s  
large-scale investments. We started construction of 
the emergency reserve power plant which will consider-
ably increase security of electricity supply. At the same 
time we started with the first stage of constructing of 
the Tartu-Viljandi-Sindi high voltage line and concluded 
the cooperation contract with county governments to 
construct the high voltage line between Harku-Lihula-
Sindi. Completion of those lines will considerably improve 
Estonia’s security of supply and will create preconditions 
for connection of additional high capacities to the net-
work. This is an important stage of the long-term process 
as the result of which the Baltic States will be connected 
to the Central-European frequency bands and desynchro-
nised from Russia.

A large contribution to development of the infrastructure 
will hopefully come from the energy infrastructure moderni- 
sation package amounting to 9.1 billion euros, that was 
approved by the European Commission at the end of 2011. 
Elering sees the creation of the third connection between 
Estonia and Latvia as one of the possible projects that can 
be executed within the framework of the package. The 
co-financing would speed up building of new connections 
and integration of the Northern Baltic electricity markets, 
reducing the pressure to increase transmission tariffs. The 
third Estonia-Latvia connection together with the realisa-
tion of other projects concerning the plan for integration of 
the regional electricity markets of the Baltic area (BEMIP), 
such as EstLink 2, Lithuania-Poland and Lithuania-Sweden 
connections, would create strong preconditions for more 
effective integration of the Baltic States into other  
European electricity networks and markets.

Last year the foundation for another important direction of 
the Estonian energy sector was laid under the leadership 
of Elering – liberalisation of the gas market. In cooperation 
with Pöyry Management Consulting (UK) Ltd company 
Elering prepared the report on development of the gas 
market in Estonia, which is the first thorough analysis 
of the Estonian gas market. The conclusion of the report 
was that development of the gas market should result in 
security of supply, emergence of the effective gas market 
and more correct price of gas in Estonia. In the light of that 
and based on our experience as the independent electricity 
system administrator we consider that it would be right to 
focus on creation of the independent natural gas transmis-
sion network operator and the effective market, as well as 
ensuring complete security of supply.

Next year we will continue moving towards those goals –  
through rational investment decisions, development of 
the electricity market and systems, gathering and sharing 
competence related to the energy field, and reasonable 
and economical management. The A3 rating with a stable 
outlook given to Elering by Moody’s rating agency further 
strengthens confidence in our reliability and independ-
ence, as well as in attainability of our goals. 

Enjoy your reading!

Taavi Veskimägi 
Chairman of the Management Board

8 9



2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

24,082,000

41,111,174

17,352,974
1,766,000

84,312,148 128,298,000 149,405,000 100,488,000 26,405,000 44,778,000

4,005,000

1,302,000

4,090,00046,190,000

19,074,000

51,701,000

37,016,000

41,087,000 60,733,000

39,807,000

19,508,000

28,489,000 28,870,000 26,405,000
44,778,000

Joinings
Reserve stations

EstLink 1
EstLink 2

Elering

Distribution of Elering's investments 2011-2016 (EUR)

Financial figures (MEUR)
2011 2010 2009 2008/09* 2007/08*

Revenue 94 89 76 82 76
Operating profit 29 21 20 25 24
Income tax 0 0 8 0 0
Net profit 21 14 5 18 17

Equity 190 160 141 176 158
Assets 486 419 368 355 335

EBITDA 50 44 40 44 44
Investments 78 27 31 39 14
Dividends 0 0 31 0 0

Financial ratios
ROE 11.7% 9.0% 6.2% 10.5% 11.0%
Equity/Assets 39% 38% 38% 49% 47%
Net borrowings/EBITDA 4.0 3.3 4.7 3.1 3.3

* Financial year from April until March   

Net borrowings = interest-bearing liabilities – cash and deposits
EBITDA = operating profit + depreciation

ROE=
Net profit

Average equity

Brief overview  
of Elering
Elering is an electricity system operator that manages the Estonian 
electricity system in real time and is responsible for its functioning.  
Our goal is to ensure supply of high quality electricity to our customers 
at all times. For this purpose we are creating conditions for functioning 
of electricity market and building cross-border interconnections.

VISION 2020 
Elering’s vision is to create wider and more efficient options for 
energy supply for both energy consumers and suppliers.

MISSION 2020  
Elering’s mission is to ensure the security of the electricity supply 
to Estonian consumers at any given time.

Our values are:  
RESpONSIBILITY – EqUALITY – DEDICATION 

Responsibility, which includes both our obligation to supply the Estonian people with 
electricity, and development and management of the Estonian electricity system.

Equality, which we follow as during creation of electricity market conditions,  
so during everyday communication with all participants of the energy market. 

Dedication characterises our entire activity which is aimed at development  
of the company and at achievement of goals assigned to us by the state.

substations
150 km of high-voltage  

overhead and cable  
lines

5,252
Cross-border intercon-
nections with Finland, 
Latvia and Russia

MW of capacity 
of EstLink 1 cable 
connection between 
Estonia and Finland

350

employees
146

average age  
of employees
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Key indicators of the 
Estonian electricity 
system
Electricity balance (GWh)

2011 2010 Change %

Electricity output in Estonia 11,387 11,321 1%

Electricity output directed to Elering’s network 11,179 11,126 0%

Output of renewable energy in Estonia 1,159 867 34%

Electricity output directed to 
network from cross-border lines 1,499 1,729 -13%

 incl. electricity output directed to network from Finland 460 233 97%

 incl. electricity output directed to network from Latvia   
       and Russia 1,039 1,496 -31%

Total electricity output directed to network 12,886 13,050 -1%

Electricity consumption in Estonia 7,824 8,006 -2%

Elering’s domestic transmissionservice for consumption 7,261 7,431 -2%

Elering’s network losses 356 381 -7%

Electricity transmission to cross-border lines 5,062 5,044 0%

 incl. electricity transmission to Finland 1,734 2,065 -16%

 incl. electricity transmission to Latvia and Russia 3,328 2,979 12%

Total electricity output transmitted through network 12,886 13,050 -1%

Balance 3,563 3,315 7%

Decrease in electricity consumption in 2011 was caused by winter period during 
the year’s first and last quarters, which were warmer than average. Therefore 
consumption of electricity in 2011 fell back to the level of year 2006.

Cross-border electricity trade (GWh)
2011 2010 Change %

Total imports 1,627 1,338 22%
incl. trade between Estonian-Latvian border* 1,126 1,082 4%

incl. trade between Estonia and Finland 501 256 96%

incl. imports through electricity exchange 1,053 533 98%

incl. imports based on bilateral agreements 574 805 -29%

Total exports 5,172 4,663 11%
incl. trade between Estonian-Latvian border* 3,475 2,672 30%

incl. trade between Estonia and Finland 1,697 1,992 -15%

incl. exports through electricity exchange 3,769 2,249 68%

incl. exports based on bilateral agreements 1,403 2,414 -42%

Balance 3,545 3,325 7%

* Export and import volumes at Estonian-Latvian border comprise supplies of electricity trade of 
Estonia-Latvia and Estonia-Lithuania. Cross-border electricity trade balance does not include system 
imbalance and cross-border regulation of supplies. Cross-border electricity trade balance comprises 
Balance providers` deliveries and delieveries stated by the power exchange operator.

 
Electricity balance of the Nordic States from the summer period of 2011 
has been characterised by increase in electricity production caused by  
the rise of levels in hydro-reservoirs, which in turn stimulated import  
of electricity from Finland to Estonia – in 2011 the amount of electricity 
imported from Finland was approximately two times bigger that in 2010. 

In 2011 energy trade export to Latvia and Lithuania  
increased approximately one third.

Export in 2011

Import in 2011

39%
to Latvia

46%
from Latvia

31%
from Finland

23%
from  
Lithuania

33%
to Finland

28%
to Lithuania

Estonian power System (110-330 kV)
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Summary of the 
Financial Year

Peep Soone
Member of the Board

We base the financial management of our company on the principle of conservatism, 
which allows us to ensure financing of large-scale investment programs and to 
achieve reasonable return on investment for the owner - the Republic of Estonia.

Macroeconomic environment

Changes in electricity consumption to a large extent depend on climate and, in a situation 
where the prices of energy grow, increasingly on possibilities for energy saving, as well as on 
general macroeconomic environment.

In the previous year there was a growth in the EU’s economy as a 
whole. The European Commission estimates that the overall growth 
of the EU’s economy in 2011 will constitute 1.5% and in the years 
2012 and 2013 – 0.5% and 1.3% respectively. According to preliminary 
estimates of Statistics Estonia, in 2011 Estonia’s economic growth 
reached 7.5%. For the years 2012-2015 Ministry of Finances estimates 
that Estonia’s economic growth will constitute 3-3.5%. Therefore, 
despite the changing external environment, Estonia’s prospects for 
the forthcoming years are good.  

In 2011 Estonia’s financial and economic position received positive estimates from different 
rating agencies, which again proves reliability of Estonia’s financial and economic policy and 
stability of the country’s investment environment. In December 2011 Moody’s rating agency 
confirmed that Estonia’s state rating remained at a high A1 level, having stayed close to this 
position since the end of 2002. This rating is two degrees higher than Elering’s long-term 
issuer rating of A3. According to the agency, the main factors that contributed to Estonia 
maintaining this rating were adoption of euro in difficult economic conditions, exceptionally 
low level of debt carried by the state and stable high budget discipline which was followed 
even during recession period. Standard & Poor’s raised Estonia’s state rating to AA- level 
in August 2011 and in January of this year it confirmed this rating again. The agency esti-
mates the rating’s perspectives as negative, with the main risk being the possibility that the 
economy of Europe and the Eurozone may weaken. 

7.5%
Estonia’s economic 
growth in 2011

Distribution of 
revenues in 2011

81%
Network services

17%
Balancing service

2% Other services
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The most suitable form of 
acquisition of long-term 
borrowing capital was the 
Eurobond market. The interna-
tional rating agency Moody’s 
gave Elering a long-term issuer 
credit rating A3/Stable, which 
demonstrated to potential 
investors the high credit value of the company. The bonds 
were quoted on the London Stock Exchange to demon-
strate the open and transparent nature of the company’s 
activities, as well as its equal treatment of all investors. 
The issue of bonds was successful despite a difficult situa-
tion in financial markets caused by the problems of Greece. 
The issue was oversubscribed 1.45 times and the volume 
amounted to 225 million euros. There were 52 investors 
from fourteen countries.

Investments and financing

For Estonia and Elering the start of 2011 marked with 
the adoption of euro. The transition turned out to be 
successful as technically so essentially, all systems 
functioned smoothly and without malfunctions from 
the first days of January. The adoption of euro contrib-
uted to strengthening of Elering’s financial reliability in 
the eyes of international investors.

For Elering the year 2011 also marked the beginning of 
an intensive investment period. 
While historically Elering’s invest-
ments on average amounted to 
around 30 million euros a year, 
the previous year gave a start to a 
four-year period during which the 
average amount of investments 
constitutes around 100 million 

euros a year. One of Elering’s most important achieve-
ments was improvement of the company’s financial 
reliability in 2011 for the purpose of acquiring addi-
tional capital for larger investments. 

At the beginning of 
summer 2011 Elering 
successfully issued 
Eurobonds

Investments into  
non-current assets (MEUR)

Geographic distribution of Eurobond investors 

Revenue (MEUR)

Operating profit (MEUR)

Net profit (MEUR)

* Financial year from April until March

* Financial year from April until March
At the beginning of summer of 2011 Elering successfully 
issued Eurobonds. The bonds were used for refinanc-
ing a syndicate loan amounting to 187 million euros. 
Initially the loan was due to be repaid in December 2012, 
which would be right in the middle of the company’s 
intensive investment period. Taking into consideration 
the problems emerging in the global financial markets, 
it was necessary to exclude the situation where bor-
rowing capital had to be found quickly under potentially 
unfavourable conditions of the market. 

Results of operations

In 2011 Elering’s revenue was 94.4 million euros  
(in 2010 – 90 million euros). The main part of it came 
from the sale of network services – 76.9 million euros 
(in 2010 – 70.7 million euros), which constituted 81% 
of the total income. Elering provided network services 
to the power plants, distribution network operators 
and large consumers. The main reason for increased 
revenue was the correction of network fees, which 
was done taking into account investments into the 
regulated assets.

Although the year 2011 was successful for Estonia’s 
economy as a whole, transmission of electricity for 
domestic consumption decreased by 2%. The main 
reason for that was exceptionally warm weather in 
the heating period, during which due to the Estonian 
climate the consumption of electricity for heating and 
lighting is at its highest. During all those months of 
2011 the average air temperature was higher than the 
year before. 

The second-largest group contributing to the revenue 
was the balancing service – 15.6 million euros (in 2010 –  
15.8 million euros). The operating expenses totally 
amounted to 65.8 million euros (in 2010 – 68.2 million 
euros) and operating profit constituted 28.6 million  
euros (in 2010 – 20.8 million euros). Net finance 
expenses totally amounted to 8.1 million euros (in 2010 –  
7.2 million euros) and the net profit was at a record 
high – 20.5 million euros (in 2010 – 13.5 million euros). 

By the end of the year Elering’s assets amounted to 
486.3 million euros (by the end of 2010 – 419.4 million 
euros), having increased by 66.9 million euros mainly 
due to investments into non-current assets. As for 
liabilities, a 3-year syndicate loan was refinanced with 
7-year bonds. The equity increased by 30.4 million euros, 
out of which the increase of share capital constituted 
9.9 million euros, and the annual net profit constituted 
20.5 million euros. The balance sheet at the end of the 
year is characterised by strong capitalisation and good 
liquidity, which creates good preconditions for carrying 
out investments in the forthcoming years.

In 2011 the Republic of Estonia as Elering’s owner 
increased the share capital of the company by 9.89 
million euros, by the issue of new common shares. 
The purpose of increasing the share capital was to 
strengthen Elering’s balance sheet in the light of the 
forthcoming investments and loans taken for their 
financing. As a result of issue of the shares Elering’s 
new share capital amounts to 149.89 million euros, 
which, according to the estimate of the management 
is sufficient for the entire five-year investment period.

28%
Sweden

18%
Finland9%

Denmark

7%
Germany

6%
Estonia

10%
Other

12%
Switzerland

11%
UK

78

27
31

39

14

2007/08* 2008/09* 2009 2010 2011

94
89

76
8276

2007/08* 2008/09* 2009 2010 2011

29

2120

2524

2007/08* 2008/09* 2009 2010 2011

21

14

5

1817

2007/08* 2008/09* 2009 2010 2011

100 million 
euros — average 
amount of 
investments  
per year
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Development  
of the electricity 
network in 2011

Kalle Kilk
Member of the Board 

It is important to secure electricity supply as today, so in the future. Therefore, 
Elering makes all decisions related to development of the electricity network 
carefully considering the long-term perspective and making investments into 
the network’s reliability and development of connections.  

The year 2011 saw a rapid growth of the monetary amounts of Elering’s 
investments compared to the previous years. During that year approxi-
mately 78 million euros was invested, while the average amount of 
investments in the previous years was around 30 million euros.  

Eight large investment objects are finalised

In the previous year building of 8 large electricity network investment objects was completed. 
Four of them were related to connection of the customers, three were related to renewal of 
Elering’s electricity network and one was related to increase in transmission capacity of the 
grid. Although only tried and true technical solutions are used during building of electricity  
network, we are still aiming at reducing the costs and simplifying technical solutions by 
applying minor changes. This in turn helps us to make the electricity network more reliable. 

The most innovative object of 2011 was the renovated Loksa substation, where instead of a 
regular 110 kV switchyard with circuitbrakers and disconnectors a compact Compass switchgear 
was installed. Such type of switchgear requires less space and time for installation, less material  
during construction and fewer subsequent operational expenses. At the same time measuring 
transformers with SF6 insulation were installed at a few substations. Such transformers have a 
number of advantages over transformers filled with oil, mainly due to the possibility of unidenti- 
fied leaks in the latter transformers that may cause dangerous malfunctions. We also used 
innovative tube towers during building of Tartu-Sindi power line, which are installed faster and 
are more looting-resistant than lattice towers.

Smaller grid renovation work included improvements of overhead transmission lines that 
help to reduce the number of power outages. Partial renovation of the lines included 100 km 
of lines with replaced worn shielding wires, 130 km of lines with replaced insulators and 180 
km of lines with installed bird barriers on towers for prevention of accumulation of dirt and 
appearance of flashovers on insulation.

Ca 78 million euros 
were invested 
during a year

18 19



In the previous year we made a great 
step ahead with large-scale investments

In addition to numerous completed investments in 2011 
we prepared a foundation for building of further facili-
ties and carried on working on the objects construction 
of which had already started. 

Construction of the emergency reserve power plant
With respect to one of Elering’s largest investments – the 
emergency reserve power plant – in 2011 we completed 
preparation work, organised tender for building and signed 
a building contract amounting to around 130 million euros 
with Wärtsilä Finland Oy. According to the survey ordered 
by Elering, the best place for construction of the power 
plant is the area of the 330 kV Kiisa substation. 

The plant will be built in two stages – the first unit will be 
put into operation in spring of 2013, and the second one – 
in autumn of 2014. The purpose of the emergency reserve 
plant is to secure supply of electricity to the customers in  
case of unforeseen emergency incidents in the power 
system. The plant will not produce electricity on a daily 
basis and will not participate in the electricity market. 
The plant will be started only if it will be necessary to 
ensure supply of electricity to the customers in case of 
outages of interconnections or production units. Capacity 
of the new plant amounts to one sixth of maximum load 
in Estonia, which means that in case of an emergency it 
would be able to satisfy a large part of Tallinn’s electri-
city consumption needs in winter. The plant can be run 
on light fuel oil and natural gas, and the storage tank 
for liquid fuels that is being built at the spot will ensure 
sufficient availability of fuel even in the most extreme 
circumstances. 

Second cable connection EstLink 2  
between Estonia and Finland
With respect to the second major investment which is the 
direct current cable connection EstLink 2 between Estonia 
and Finland, just before the end of the start of 2011 most of 
design work was completed as the first step of execution  
of the signed building contract. Nexans cable factory 
started to make the 145 km long undersea cable, and 
carried out a number of cable type tests with a cable test 
piece in order to ensure that it meets all the respective 
requirements. Cable installation work is planned for 2012. 
Civil works have already been started and the project corner 
stone has been laid at converter platforms, one of which is 
located in Estonia in Püssi and the other in Finland in Anttila.  
The converter substations will be ready by the end of 2013 
and following the designated testing period the entire 
direct current connection will start to operate in the electri-
city market at the beginning of 2014. EstLink 2 will triple 
connection capacity of electricity systems between Estonia 
and the Nordic States, and it will play an important role in 
securing electricity supply to consumers and in functioning 
of the electricity market in Estonia.

New high voltage line connecting Tartu, Viljandi and Sindi
Construction of the new 330 kV high voltage line stretch-
ing from Tartu through Viljandi to Sindi went according to 
the plans, and the first 28 km-long part of the line from 
Tartu to Puhja was completed and put into operation in 
August. In addition to that most of the work on the part 
of line from Puhja to Oiu substation was completed. In 
addition to the impact of the environment, building of 
the high voltage lines is often hindered by failure to come 
to agreement with land owners. Nevertheless, so far the 
given investment object has been executed according to 
the desired speed despite numerous disagreements with 
the land owners, which at times even resulted in legal dis-
putes. After the new line from Tartu to Sindi will be ready, 
we plan to continue building the line from Sindi to Tallinn.

Building of Harku – Lihula – Sindi high voltage line
In order to build a new 330 kV Harku – Lihula – Sindi 
line, on 12 October 2011 Elering concluded a co-oper-
ation agreement with county governors of Harju, 
Lääne and Pärnu counties for planning location of a 
line route going through three counties. According to 
the agreement, the parties will be co-operating in the 
course of preparation of thematic plans “Specification 
of Location of Harku-Lihula-Sindi 330/110 kV overhead 
line route” that specify plans of the given counties, as 
well as in the course of strategic assessment of envi-
ronmental impact related to the respective line route. 
Completion of the high voltage line will improve stabil-
ity of electricity supply in the entire continental part of 
Estonia, especially in its Western part and the Tallinn 
area. Completion of the line will make it possible for 
new environmentally-friendly electricity producers to 
connect to the network, which will disperse production 
of energy within Estonia. The new electricity connec-
tion is also important for development of the electri-
city market between the Baltic States and Central 
Europe with Scandinavia. We plan to announce the 
tender for building in 2016, and the line should be  
commissioned in 2019.

Renovation of substation of Eesti Power Plant
One of the current projects that are most important for 
Estonian energy industry is the renovation of the sub-
station of Eesti Power Plant. This substation has been 
serving as the network connection point of the largest 
local power plant, and as one of the transit centres of 
vital importance for security of electricity supply in Esto-
nia. By developing the main network we do try to reduce 
the importance of such individual centres, however it 

will undoubtedly continue to play an important role in 
the future already given the mere fact that new addi-
tional units of the oil shale power plant are being built 
at Eesti Power Plant, which will also be connected to the 
renovated substation in a few years. As a part of the 
renovation in 2011 we organised the tender, concluded 
the contract and started building work with the aim to 
complete by 2013 one connection point for Eesti Power 
Plant’s oil shale unit and one connection point for gas 
turbine for burning char gas that is generated as one of 
side products of production of shale oil.

Reliability of the electricity network  
is constantly monitored

In addition to activities related to development of the 
network, it is also important to the customer receiving 
network services that reliability of the available network 
is maintained at a good level. With this respect the year 
2011 was a year of learning and revising the learnt. For 
example, as a result of active building in towns, Elering’s 
cable lines got damaged, which lead to power supply 
interruptions and monetary damages. In addition to 
that, in 2011 electricity lines were damaged more often 
than normally by thunders and storms. This was the 
reason why in 2011 the expenses on unscheduled and 
emergency maintenance work were higher than usual.

Elering pays a lot of attention to maintenance of line 
routes and removal of the trees from lines’ protection 
area that may fall on the lines. 
The widht of protection area for 
power lines is fixed by a decree 
however in reality the line cor-
ridors are often narrower than 
the protection area. In 2011 we 
removed approximately 230 ha of 
forest in order to widen the space 
of line corridors. As a result of that the part of the line 
corridors with the voltage of 330 kV where the lines are 
protected from the trees that may fall on them from the 
protection area was extended by approximately 100 km. 
Cleaned protection area of 110 kV lines was extended by 
approximately 30 km. Nevertheless, there are still quite 
many places where it was not possible to widen the route 
to the width of a protection area. With this respect it is 
very important to maintain effective communication with 
the land owners, without whose agreement it is not pos-
sible to widen the routes.

Harku-Lihula-Sindi overhead line route 
Tartu-Viljandi-Sindi overhead line route

Elering pays a lot 
of attention to 
maintenance of 
line routes
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Developments of the 
electricity market in 2011 We believe that one cornerstone needed for 

securing electricity supply is functioning of 
the open electricity market. Consumers must 
have an opportunity and freedom to choose 
electricity seller, and producers must have an 
access to the regional electricity market.

While the main event of 2010 was partial opening of 
Estonian electricity market and start of the electricity 
exchange, then in 2011 the main activities were aimed in 
two directions – regional development and preparations 
for opening the Estonian electricity market fully in the 
beginning of 2013. Better access to data and transpar-
ency, developing energy trade policy with third countries, 
expansion of power exchange to Latvia and Lithuania, 
and the Data Warehouse can be named as the main 
highlights of 2011.

Nord pool Spot Estonia price area in 2011

During the first full year of functioning of the Nordic 
powerexchange NPS Estonia price area, increase in trading 
activity took place and the total volume traded amounted 
to 10.4 TWh. The previous trading year demonstrated 
that reliability of the market place increased continuously 
and the way price was formed on power exchange clearly 
indicated the fact that well-
connected regional electricity 
market creates opportunities 
for consumers and producers.

Through the year the price 
was influenced by low level 
of consumption in both 
in the Nordic States and 
Baltic States, as well as by high filling rate of hydro-
reservoirs in Nordics. Bottlenecks, or lack of sufficient 
transmission capacities first occurred in the first half 
of the year between Estonia and Finland, but Estonian 
price area was also influenced by overloads on the 
border between Estonia and Latvia during the summer.

Trading activity 
increased during 
the first full year of 
functioning of the NPS 
Estonia price area

Ingrid Arus
Head of Electricity 
Markets Department
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NpS Estonia 2011

Share of electricity bought from the electricity exchange for domestic consumption 33.2%

Eligible consumers 201

Traders on electricity exchange in the Estonia area (incl. Latvia and Lithuania) Elspot / Elbas 19/5

Volumes of electricity bouht in NPS Estonia price area 4.59 TWh

Volumes of electricity sold in  NPS Estonia price area 5.79 TWh

Electricity bought for domestic consumption 2.56 TWh

Congestion income earned by EstLink 1 cable owners 19.58 MEUR

price comparison of different areas

2011  
(EUR/MWh)

Average price Max. daily price Min. daily price Average price 
in 2010*

NPS System 47.15 92.13 1.45 53.06

NPS Estonia 43.37 90.96 1.60 46.31

NPS Finland 49.44 150.05 0.36 56.64

Baltpool 45.26 7.10 0.08 46.42

*  Due to the fact that the electricity exchange opened in Estonia in April 2010, NPS Estonia comprises 9 months` average price.

The factors and prices were the main reasons behind energy flows between Finland and Estonia. 
The following chart shows energy flows compared to the average electricity prices in Estonia, 
Finland and Lithuania.

Development of the electricity market

Elering adopted peak-load reserve principles
In 2011 Elering implemented a few measures aimed at 
minimising the number of situations when the demand 
and supply curves in the NPS Estonia price area don’t 
intersect. At the end of July Elering started placing bids 
into SESAM, the Nordic power exchange Nord Pool 
Spot’s platform for day-ahead electricity purchases and 
sales, in order to reduce the risk for market participants 
in the Estonian price area of imbalance and of maximum 
prices (price peaks).

Bids are submitted on a daily basis in a separate bidding 
portfolio. Principles for the use of the bids are similar to the 
principles for the so called peak-load reserve, which are cur-
rently applied by Finland and Sweden. Nord Pool Spot who 
is the power exchange operator has the right to increase 
the bids for sale by 50 MWh at the agreed price of 203 
EUR/MWh in order to avoid imbalance that may emerge 
on Estonian-Latvian border. Application of this mechanism 
may be necessary during summer period when the risk of 
emergence of imbalance in theoretically the highest. 

Third countries` border
For Estonia it is very important to work out common princi-
ples on energy import from third countries. Common rules 
could become effective for all third countries outside the 
European Economic Area, which would first and foremost 

concern the Baltic States and 
Finland. Such principles should 
first and foremost ensure 
fulfilment of the requirements 
of the EU Third Energy Package 
by the system administrators 
of the member states – separa-
tion of activities, distribution of 
obligations and rights, etc. 

During application of the principles it is important to 
guarantee equal treatment of market participants –  
irrespective of the fact whether the market partici-
pant is located within or outside the European Union. 
Today’s conditions differ with respect to environmental  
requirements and fuel price regulation, lower safety 
requirements are applied to the use of nuclear energy, 
and a number of other requirements are different from 
those effective in the EU market. Due to differentrules 
applicable in EU and Russia the electricity production in 
Russia is significantly cheaper than in the EU member  
states, which does not guarantee fair competition.

In 2011 an expert working group was formed for the 
purpose of development of rules for technical cooperation 
between Russia and ENTSO-E, the organisation repre-
senting the main network operators of the EU member 
states. The main goal of the expert group is to develop 
solutions for technical cooperation between the EU and 
the third states which would take into consideration pro-
cedures and operating principles of different markets.

Substantial discussions of this issue will start this year; how-
ever it is the ENTSO-E’s firm position that representatives 
from Belarus should also be involved in the expert group.

During the previous year there were no changes in trading 
rules and it is now important to move towards development 
of harmonised regional principles. One of the possibilities 
for harmonisation of the rules is expansion of the Nord Pool 
Sport electricity exchange to Latvia and Lithuania.

Expansion of the NPS electricity exchange  
to Latvia and Lithuania
Expansion of the NPS to Latvia and Lithuania has become 
a critical issue. Opening NPS price areas in these states 
could significantly contribute to market transparency, and 
common electricity trade principles would be effective in 
the whole region. It was expected 
that the decision to expand to 
Latvia and Lithuania would be 
made already in the middle of 2011, 
but unfortunately the decision was 
delayed. Main reasons behind the 
delay were certification procedure 
of Latvia’s transmission system 
operator and the decision which 
would confirm the actual separation from Latvenergo. In 
Lithuania the opening of the NPS price area was delayed 
due to adoption of amendments to the legislation which 
should designate the electricity exchange operator in order 
to start the NPS price area. 

Although there is no NPS in Latvia and Lithuania, market 
participants in their systems can participate in Estonian 
price area via auctions applied to Estonian and Latvian border.  
Their supplies are guaranteed by the system operators of 
Latvia and Lithuania – the respective supply guarantee 
agreement was signed with Litgrid, and there is a plan to 
sign a similar agreement with the Latvian system operator, 
Augstspriegumals Tikls. In 2012 analysis of the trade princi-
ples applied to Estonian-Latvian border will continue with 
the goal to ensure market transparency and equal alloca-
tion of rights and obligations of the market participants.

Energy flows (h) vs. average price of NpS Estonia and Finland (EUR/MWh) Average price of NPS Estonia
Average price of NPS Finland

Average price of Baltpool
Flows from Estonia to Finland (h)
Flows from Finland to Estonia (h)
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For Estonia  
common principles 
on energy import 
from third countries 
are important

Opening NPS price 
areas in Latvia 
and Lithuania 
could contribute 
to market 
transparency
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All important data  
accessible in real time

The goal of liberalisation of the European electricity 
market is to create a market that is open to fair competi-
tion, providing more choice for the consumer. In order to 
ensure that, it is necessary to first and foremost create 
conditions for equal treatment of all market participants 
and to provide access to the data that is needed to make 
any decisions, alsoto ensure effective operation.

In 2011 we made a significant 
quality leap in increasing trans-
parency of functioning of the 
electricity system and the elec-
tricity market. We started a new 
website with aim to offer market 

Elering contributes 
to easy and user-
friendly access to 
the data

In addition to that also frequency, price and volumes of 
balancing energy, energy from renewable sources and a lot 
of other data is publi-shed, which is very important for both 
long-term and short-term planning in the electricity market.

In addition to our website we have also made the data 
related to the electricity market available on Nord Pool 
Spot platform, where interested parties can find market 
prices, transmission capacities and outages  of genera-
tionand transmission lines in all price areas. At the same 
time we participate in the Nordic Map project, where 
together with Finnish, Swedish, Danish and Norwegeian 
system operators all operational information concerning  
consumption, production (separately for each type of 
fuel), capacity flows and prices as minutely updates is 
provided and updated every minute.   

Elering is a member of European Network Trans-mission 
System Operator for Electricity, where a pan-European 

platform for publishing data is being jointly developed. 
Since European electricity markets continue integra-
tion and more opportunities appear for trade activities 
in markets with other states, it is important to give all 
participants in the European market access to respec-
tive data of all systems.

Data warehouse – a tool for effective  
functioning of the market
Estonia’s electricity market will become open for all  
consumers starting from 1 January 2013. Equal treat-
ment of electricity suppliers and effective data  
exchange between market participants are very  
important in order to secure effectively functioning  
market. This can be ensured only through development  
of equal access to the data and harmonised principles.

In order to provide effectively functioning data 
exchange which is necessary, the data exchange 
platform together with respective principles and rules 

Volumes purchased in NPS Estonia
Purchased by Estonian market participants

Volumes sold in NPS Estonia
Sold by Estonian market participants

Volumes bought and sold in the Estonian price area and 
their distribution between Estonian and Latvian-Lithuanian 
market participants

The data warehouse is an 
information system that ensures 
the following possibilities:
This is a place where a network 
operator forwards measurement 
data of the measurement points 
on hourly basis and through which 
the data becomes available for all 
eligible market participants;

The system helps market partici-��

pants to undergo procedure for  
changing the supplier:

the system doesn’t allow one ��

customer to simultaneously 
conclude more than one 
contract 

the system provides ��

information concerning 
change of the supplier to all 
network operators and other 
eligible market participants 

The data warehouse is the place ��

where the market participant 
administrates authorisation/
rights necessary to receive 
the data related to him and 
to submit personal bids.

is being developed under leadership and responsibility of Elering. With respect 
to data exchange, the main responsibilities lie on those who are responsible 
for measuring volumes of electricity – network operators and owners of direct 
lines; at the same time responsibilities related to balance management lie on 
sellers, balance providers and system operators. In 2011 all market participants 
and network operators agreed to participate in the data warehouse project 
and to undertake necessary developments. In 2012 respective activities and 
development of the system will continue in order to ensure equal and justified 
access to the data starting from the late autumn of 2012. 
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participants 
all necessary 
information 

in prompt, transparent, user-friendly 
and easily downloadable form. 

Regulation (EC) No 714/2009 of the 
European Parliament and of the 
Council establishes conditions for 
publishing data for all EU member 
states, which are completely fulfilled 
by Elering through its website, (which 
also performs other functions).

The published data includes both 
planned and actual transmission 
capacities, used transmission  
capacity, production and consumption.  

Simplified data warehouse diagram

NETwORK 
OPERATOR

DATA 
wAREHOUSE SUPPLiER

* Metering points
* Metered data
* Service Agreement 

(party, duration)
* Metered data 

(offers, billing)

Supply Agreement

Authorities 
(for viewing 
metered data)

* Metered data
* Agreement 

(other info related to Market Participant)

* Supply Agreement 
(party, duration)

MARKET 
PARTiCiPANT

26 27



Operation of the 
Estonian electricity 
system in real time

Märt Allika
Head of Power System  
Control Centre

Elering’s competent activities in the Estonian electricity system that concern 
planning its entire operation and managing the electricity system in real time 
guarantee to Estonian consumers high quality electricity supply at all times, 
which has a direct and important impact on everyday lives of all Estonian people.

In order to plan reliable operation of the electricity system it is necessary to first and foremost 
draw up a specific schedule for operation of the electricity system in real time – the programme of 
activities must include analysis of possibility to undertake planned outages of different network 
components and power plants, impact of possible emergencies, impact of production of the wind 
parks, changes in consumption, considerations concerning transmission capacities of cross-border 
lines and capacity of transit flows. Due to development of the electricity market and the field of 
energy from renewable sources, in particular increase in the share of wind parks, preparation of 
such analyses has become more difficult, which requires application of new technical solutions for 
planning and operation of the electricity system. In 2011 Elering started developing the load fore-
cast system and the service for forecast of production of wind power plants. These developments 
are planned to be incorporated into the working process in 2012. 

In order for the electricity system to work it is necessary to keep voltage, frequency and power 
flow levels of the entire system within the allowed limits. In addition, it is necessary to use  
sufficient volume of reserve electricity production capacities in order to handle unexpected 
changes in production or consumption. 

In 2011 we used reserve capacities for balancing deviations of the Estonian electricity 
system, which were caused by changes in production and consumption. In Estonia 
and its neighbouring states emergency electricity generation reserves were used 17 
times for resolving situations arising from technical emergency and near-emergency 
incidents. The most problematic place was the cross-section between Estonian and 
Latvian cross-border lines, where in the summer of 2011 overloads were repeatedly 
identified and in order to ensure reliable operation of the electricity network Estonian and Latvian 
system operators had to jointly activate reserve capacities in order to return the power flows of 
those electricity transmission lines within the allowed limits. Overloads were mainly caused by big 
deficit of the Latvian and Lithuanian electricity systems and unfavourable distribution of generation 
in electricity systems of the BRELL states. Since there are reasons to expect that in 2012 the Latvian 
and Lithuanian electricity systems will also remain in deficit, it is very likely that in the summer of 
2012 there will be tension concerning transmission flows between Estonia and Latvia.

Emergency electricity 
generation reserves 
were used 17 times

28 29



Maximum consumption in Estonia 1,517 MW 23.02.2011 09:45-09:50

Minimum consumption in Estonia 440 MW 24.06.2011 04:55-05:00

Average load in Estonia in 2011 902 MW

Maximum net generation in Estonia 1,973 MW 06.01.2011 16:50-16:55

Minimum net generation in Estonia 526 MW 17.07.2011 03:00-03:25

Average net generation in Estonia in 2011 1,308 MW

Unit
Average 

price
MAX  
price

MIN  
price

Prices of imbalance energy in 2011

Sales price of 
imbalance energy €/MWh 47.43 131.75 7.64

Purchase price of  
imbalance energy €/MWh 42.95 95.81 0.00

Prices of imbalance energy in  2010

Sales price of  
imbalance energy €/MWh 47.87 485.85 16.40

Purchase price of  
imbalance energy €/MWh 44.69 334.00 2.00

resolution of situations arising from technical accidents 
or near-accidents that may happen in the system. In 2011 
supplies of system services were five times higher com-
pared to supplies of system services in 2010, which was 
due to the overloads at the crossing between Estonian 
and Latvian cross-border lines in the summer of 2011 and 
the increased regulations provided to operators of the 
neighbouring systems as system services. The regula-
tions made with respect to the system services are not 
shown as a part of the price of balancing energy.

Domestically Elering sold a total of 201 GWh of imbalan-
cing energy and purchased a total of 224 GWh of imbalan-
cing energy. The sales and purchases of domestic imbalan-
cing energy include the imbalancing energy volumes of 
the balance providers, transmission network losses of 
imbalancing energy and imbalancing energy resulting 
from interruptions of the EstLink 1 cable. 

Balance service supplies

As a whole, in the year 2011 there was 
more surplus than deficit of imbalan-
cing energy in the Estonian electri-
city system – export of imbalancing 
energy constituted 81 GWh and 
import of imbalancing energy from 
Latvia constituted 63 GWh. In order 
to secure Estonia’s capacity balance 
Elering purchased a total of 82 GWh 
of upward regulation of supplies and 
emergency reserves and sold 19 GWh 
of downward regulation of supplies. 
In addition to that Elering sold system 
services amounting to 33 GWh and 
purchased system services amount-
ing to 11 GWh. Regulations of system 
services include regulations applied to 
other system operators and aimed at 

31%
Sale of domestic 
imbalance energy

11%
Purchase of 
balancing deliveries

11%
Export of system 
imbalance energy

28%
Purchase of domestic  
imbalance energy

9%
import of system 
imbalance energy

5%
Sale of system service

2% Purchase of system service
3% Sale of balancing deliveries

Balancing energy  
supplies in 2011

prices of imbalancing energy

In 2011 the highest sales price of imbalance energy in 
Estonia was 131.75 €/MWh, which was caused by high 
price of high upward regulation of supplies in June.

The lowest purchase price of imbalance energy in  
2011 was 0 €/MWh, as at one hour in September the 
downward regulation was sold for price of zero.
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Elering as a 
competence centre

Elering’s energy competence centre demon-
strates our emphasis on educational, scientific  
and development activities related to the field 
of energy, and active participation in directing 
development of the Estonian energy sector 
and resolving key problems.

Elering and society

Elering plays an important role in functioning and 
development of Estonian society – we are responsible 
for stable functioning of the electricity system and for 
availability of quality electricity. Therefore, in order for 
us to reach our goals it is vitally important to follow the 
principles of environmental sustainability, honest and 
responsible business activities and to put emphasis on 
development of Estonia by way of enriching our knowl-
edge and promoting education. These principles are the 
basis for Elering’s everyday work  and achievement of its 
goals, which lets us continue to be an open, competent 
and reliable partner as for our customers, employees and 
business partners, so for the whole society.   

The previous year was very significant for the Estonian 
energy sector – foundation was set for numerous large 
investments into development of the electricity network 
and improvement of its reliability, such as EstLink 2, and 
we started preparations for opening of the electricity 
market for all electricity consumers in 2013, and explo-
ration of gas market development perspectives. With 
participation and under the leadership of our experts, 

a number of key issues of the 
Estonian energy sector became the 
subjects of public discussions and 
thorough cooperation with Tallinn 
University of Technology was 
started with the aim of advancing 
knowledge in the field of energy. 
Therefore, there is no doubt that we can call the year 2011 
as the year that turned Elering into a competence centre. 

Honest, responsible and reliable operation is important 
for every company and the society as a whole in order 
to achieve the goals. Elering also follows these princi-
ples in its everyday work and in the course of achieve-
ment of its business goals. Elering is 100% owned by 
Estonian State, which means great responsibility as 
towards the citizens, customers and business partners, 
so towards our employees. Our management, business 
activities and communication with the target groups 
have always been based on the principles of profes-
sionalism, openness and ethic. 

In order to ensure better organisation of our work we 
have united the best knowledge and expectations of our 
partners, owner and customers. Advisory Councils that 
were created to work together with Elering and continued 
to do so in the previous year are the direct result of that. 
Under the leadership of Elering the Advisory Council for 
Electricity Market and Advisory Council for Developing the 
Estonian Electricity Network function simultaneously and 
include the ministries’ officials, representatives of market 
participants and independent experts. The goal of the 

Councils is to find the best solutions for key energy sector 
issues and future challenges concerning Elering and Esto-
nia as a whole through cooperation with all the partners. 

In 2011 the Advisory Council for Electricity Market gath-
ered three times. The main topics that were discussed 
were regional market development opportunities and 
NPS expansion, as well as opening of the electricity 
market. The main topic of the Advisory Council for 
Developing the Estonian Electricity Network was dedi-
cated to development plans of Europe and the Baltic 
Region. The next forthcoming years will bring impor-
tant events for the Estonian energy sector – opening 
of the electricity market for all consumers, decisions 

concerning gas market development, 
etc., which means that data exchange, 
centralisation of competence and 
involvement of all the participants have 
a very significant importance.

Since Elering is an independent system 
administrator, one of the main princi-
ples of our activity that follows from 
the legislation is the principle of equal 

treatment of all the market participants. We provide to 
all our customers – whether they are electricity produc-
ers, distribution networks, large consumers connected to 
the main network of balance administrators – services of 
equal quality and identical information. 

We value opinions and knowledge of social groups, 
media and wider public in the field of energy, and 

that’s why we try to participate in public debates and 
share our competence and knowledge. As the energy 
competence centre we have been the leading speaker 
in numerous important topics related to the field of 
energy – the impact of EU 
energy and climate policy on 
Estonia, gas market devel-
opment, etc. For instance, 
in the previous year Elering 
supported organisation of the 
series of seminars dedicated 
to explanation of opening of 
the electricity market, and took the floor in a number 
of different thematic conferences and seminars.

In 2011 Elering updated its website, which is now a centre 
for all the important data related to the Estonian 
electricity system. The new application allows using the 
website for real-time monitoring of movement of elec-
tricity between the systems, loads of energy, connections 
between the states. In the future Elering will continue to 
raise awareness of Estonian public concerning energy-
related issues – by thoroughly explaining and introducing  
important subjects to the public through media, its website  
and various events, and in cooperation with educational 
establishments. 

By following the abovementioned principles and 
completing the started activities, in the forthcoming 
years we want to remain being an open, competent, 
responsible and reliable partner as for our customers, 
employees and partners, so for the whole society.

Equal 
treatment 
of all the 
market 
participants

Cooperation with 
Tallinn University 
of Technology was 
started in the field 
of energy

Updated website 
provides all the 
important data related 
to the electricity system
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Research and development activities 

In the previous year numerous analyses and research 
activities related to the field of energy were carried 
out under the leadership of Elering, which helped to 
resolve the key issues of the Estonian energy sector 
and open numerous discussions concerning choices 
and opportunities of the field of energy. 

In 2011 Elering started with a 
series of publications, the first 
issue of which is the report on 
security of supply of the Estonian 
electricity system that is prepared 
annually. The report was prepared 
on the basis of Elering’s know-

how concerning modelling of the electricity market and 
networks. Elering also continued to develop the Balmorel 
market model. The second issue of the series of publica-
tions was the first in-depth publication dealing with the 
Estonian natural gas market – the plan for the Esto-
nian gas market development that was drawn up upon 
Elering’s order, in which Pöyry Management Consulting 
presented analysis of the possibilities for improvement of 
functioning of Estonian gas market. This document was 
the basis for further steps taken in the course of planning 
of development of the given field.

In 2011 Elering launched the data exchange platform 
project, which, as the electricity market opens in 2013, 
will create equal conditions for access to the data 
necessary for effective functioning of the market for 
all the market participants. 

As a part of the intelligent network (the so-called smart 
grid) programme, Elering launched a consumption  
management project within the framework of which 
it will start to draw consumption patterns of the large 
electricity consumers and offer respective solutions. 
On the basis of the received results and knowledge 
it is possible to assess payback of the consumption 
management and the scope of its application (MW) in 
Estonia (i.e. reducing peak loads and increasing regula-
tion capacities). The results of the research allow  
ensuring effective planning and functioning of the  
electricity system and of the electricity market.

In order to increase effectiveness of the electricity system 
management in 2011 Elering purchased the load forecast-
ing system – a complete solution for short-term (up to 14 
days in advance) forecasting of load of the electric system. 
At the same time Elering prepared tender for forecasting 
service for wind power plants – a solution for forecasting 
production of wind power plants 0-72 hours in advance. 
Those software solutions will contribute to fulfilment of 
the main functions concerning planning and management 
of administration of the electricity system (including plan-
ning and managing reserve capacities, network transmis-
sion capacity, interruptions of electrical equipment, voltage 
charts and network losses), therefore serving Elering as 
important tools for ensuring functioning and secured sup-
plies of the Estonian electricity system.  

In December 2011 Elering and Tallinn University of Tech-
nology signed a joint statement of intents, the aim of 
which is advancing scientific and development activities 
in the field of energy, training of energy specialists and 
raising general awareness in Estonian society. As a direct 
result of that we have launched our internship program 
and have taken part in research and analyses of the field 
of energy. In the future our cooperation should ensure 
that Estonia will have more energy experts with a better 
knowledge of the given field and a wider outlook.

Over the following years we want to continue working 
on the projects that we started in 2011:

carry our social and economical analysis of  ��

long-term scenarios of the energy market;
offer solutions for management of electricity ��

consumption;
explore Estonia’s potential of using natural gas;��

complete data exchange platform that will ��

ensure better communication between electricity 
consumers and sellers;
organise open days for high-school students;��

continue granting Elering’s scholarship;��

support arrangement of international conferences.��

Sustainable and environmentally  
clean operation 

Elering carries out its everyday activities in a responsible 
manner, based on the principle of preservation of healthy 
and clean environment. We feel responsibility for the 
impact on the environment that results from our activi-
ties, and we do everything in order for our main activities 
to support the principles of sustainable and environmen-
tally clean operation.

We have approved and follow the principles of envi-
ronmental responsibility, such as fulfilment of the 
environmental requirements established by the 
legislation, application of environmentally sustainable 
technologies and avoiding pollution of the environ-
ment and generation of waste. Not only we believe 
that following these principles is important for Elering, 
but we also take them into consideration when choos-
ing partners and subcontractors.

Ensuring electricity supply in Estonia is inevitably 
related to the surrounding natural environment, due 
to which Elering’s investments and main business 
activities as the electricity system administrator and 
developer go hand in hand with our surrounding envi-
ronment. In this respect the principle of assessment 
of environmental impact is of a great importance, and 
we follow it in the course of preparation of investment 
concerning development of our infrastructure and con-
struction. In 2011 we ordered and performed assess-
ment of environmental impact with respect to building 
of the Tartu-Viljandi-Sindi line and EstLink 2. 

Development of networks and building of lines for securing 
electricity supply concern many Estonian land owners. In 
order to complete such building work in the most sustain-
able way, Elering concluded agreements with representa-
tives of counties that will be affected by building of the 
new line. This way, for example, the aim of the agreement 
for building of Harku-Lihula-Sindi route that got signed 
by the county governors was to find joint solutions which 
would allow minimum impact on the environment and on 
the people’s ability to exercise rights to their land. 

In addition to that, Elering’s workers themselves have 
also contributed to preservation of the natural environ-
ment – in May of 2011 a large number 
of Elering employees went to the 
woods of Lääne-Virumaa and Haljala 
to plant trees there. Approximately 
2700 fir seedlings were planted 
within one day, and the income 
received from planting the forest  
was granted to an animal shelter.

We have accepted the obligation to follow the above-
mentioned principles and initiatives of environmen-
tal responsibility in all our activities in the following 
years. We plan to participate more actively than ever 
in improving environment of the communities which 
were affected by Elering’s investments.

we planted 
ca 2700 fir 
seedlings

in 2011 Elering 
started with 
a series of 
publications
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European Union climate 
and environmental 
policy and renewable 
energy in Estonia

Estonia is a member of the European Union 
(EU) and a participant of the EU’s internal 
market, which also means responsibility and 
obligation to follow the union’s climate and 
environmental policy and create preconditions 
for Estonia to join the European market. 

The EU’s energy policy is founded, on the one hand, on 
protection of the environment and reduction of the use of 
fossil energy sources, and on the other hand, on securing 
supply of energy in a situation where a large part of it 
(ca 60% of raw liquid fuels and ca 30% of natural gas) 
is imported from outside of the EU. Therefore, serious 
attention is directed at the risks that arise from the 
climate change from the one hand, and at the dangers 
related to stability of supplies of fuels, rising prices and 
world-wide competition for fossil resources on the other 
hand. As it is known, the main bases of the EU energy 
policy are established by the Lisbon Treaty, which defines 
as priorities: the functioning of the internal energy mar-
ket; security of energy supply; energy efficiency; energy 
saving; the use of renewable sources of energy; integra-
tion and interconnection of energy networks.

The most impressive expression of the EU energy policy 
are the so-called 20/20/20 targets for the year 2020, 
which stand for reduction of emission of greenhouse 
gasses and increasing energy efficiency and the share  
of energy from renewable sources by 2020. 
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is to be the payer of grants and the collector of service 
fees to be paid to finance the grants. This means 
that Elering acts as a paying agency collecting the 
renewable energy fee from its consumers and then 
using it to give renewable energy grants to the elect-
ricity producers in accordance with the conditions and 
limits established by the law. The renewable energy 
fee is payable by all final consumers of electricity in 
Estonia in accordance with the volume of the network 
service that they consumed. In 2012 the renewable 
energy fee is 0.97 cents per 1 kWh.

According to the development plan of the electricity 
sector until 2018 renewable electricity is expected to 
account for 5.1% of gross consumption according to 
the target for 2010. The 
share of electricity produced 
in combined heat and power 
plants should be at least 
20% in 2020 according to 
the target.

In 2011 production on renewable energy in Estonia 
accounted for around 13% of electricity consumption 
(together with self-consumption of power plants), 
which is 3.2% more than the year before. This shows 
that Estonia has got very close to achievement of the 

final target to increase 
the share of elect-
ricity produced from 
renewable sources to 
15-20% of the total 
electricity consumption 
by 2020.

These figures were reached first and foremost due to inc-
rease of electricity produced as from biomass and biogas, 
so from wind energy. In 2011 renewable energy comprised 
electricity produced from waste and biomass (66%), wind 
energy (31%) and hydro-energy (3%).

 

Energy from renewable sources (Twh) 2011 2010 Change
Total energy from renewable sources 1.16 0.87 33%

incl. wind energy 0.37 0.28 32%

incl. hydro-energy 0.03 0.03 0%

incl. biomass and biogas 0.76 0.56 36%

EU’s Energy Roadmap 2050 

In 2011 one of the decisions having the biggest impact 
on the energy sector was the approval by the European 
Commission of the Energy Roadmap 2050. The docu-
ment establishes long-term goals for the energy sector, 
the most important of which is reduction of greenhouse 
gas emission by 80-95% below 1990 levels. In addition to 
that the EU energy policy for the future is defined by the 
European Energy Strategy 2020 adopted in 2010. 

From the point of view of 
realisation of the energy 
policy one should certainly 
note the importance of 
the energy infrastructure 
modernisation package 

amounting to 9.1 billion euro, approved by the European 
Commission at the end of 2011, that will help to achieve 
the targets related to climate and energy. The money pro-
vided to the energy sector within the framework of the 
package is aimed at development of the pan-European 
infrastructure and can be used only for projects involving 
at least two states. The financing can be obtained in the 
form of bonds, grants and loan guarantees. This is the 
first time when the EU co-finances large-scale energy 
investments form its regular budget. 

Elering sees creation of the 
third connection between 
Estonia and Latvia as one of 
the possible projects that can 
be co-financed by the EU. 
The co-financing could speed 
up building of new connec-

tions and integration of the Northern-Baltic electricity 
markets, reducing the pressure to increase transmission 
tariffs. The third Estonia-Latvia connection together with 
the realisation of other projects concerning the plan for 
connecting other Baltic regional areas with Europe (BEMIP), 
such as EstLink 2, Lithuania-Poland and Lithuania-Sweden 
connection, would create strong preconditions for more 
effective integration of the Baltic State into other  
European electricity networks and markets.

Renewable Energy in Estonia 

Today position of Estonia with respect to the energy 
security looks good as almost entire electricity production 

Energy infrastructure 
modernisation package  
of 9.1 billion euro

Third connection 
between Estonia and 
Latvia will be co-
financed by the EU

is based on domestic primary energy resources such as oil 
shale, biofuels (mainly wood), peat and wind energy. 

production per type  
of fuel in 2011

Volumes of energy produced  
from renewable sources (GWh)

88.1%
Oil shale

6.6%
Biomass

0.8% Natural gas
0.3% water
0.8% Peat
3.2% wind 
0.1% Other

At the same time in the light of the targets for 2020 set 
by the EU climate and energy policy it is apparent that 
CO2-rich oil shale as a source of electricity production 
will not be competitive in the future markets compared 
to electricity production methods based on renewable 
sources of energy and containing less CO2 (mainly natural 
gas). It can be expected that in the longer perspective the 
alternate ways for securing electricity supply in Estonia 
are either restructuring domestic electricity production, 
or importing electricity. Elering will play an important role 
with respect to both such alternatives, as building inters-
tate connections and developing the electricity market, so 
connecting new power plants to the electricity system. In 
order to achieve the targets set by the EU’s requirements 
concerning renewable energy, Estonia needs to ensure 
that the share of renewable energy will account for 25% 
of the final consumption of energy including 10% of fuels 
used in transport. In order to fulfil the assumed obliga-
tions, Estonia has established grant schemes with a view 
to increase investments in production of electricity from 
renewable energy sources and in efficient combined pro-
duction of heat and power which ensures primary energy 
savings through efficient combined production process.

Elering’s role in supporting renewable energy and electri-
city produced by an efficient combined production mode 

The volumes of renewable energy that received grants 
also increased by approximately 40%, which meant that 
the amount of paid grants reached 57.2 million euros. Inc-
rease in the volumes of energy that received grants was 
caused first and foremost by the increase in volumes of 
electricity produced from wind energy and biomass. The 
biggest new producers who received grants were Pärnu 
Fortum Termest combined production plant that was put  
into operation at the end of 2010, as well as Virtsu III and 
Vanaküla wind parks. At the same time Narva Power 
Plants received bigger grants for production of electricity 
from biomass.

Distribution of energy from  
renewable sources in 2011

31%
wind energy

3%
Hydro-energy

66%
waste, 
biomass

1159

867

276

27

564

365

31

763

Energy from 
renewable sources

incl. 
wind energy

incl. 
hydro-energy

incl. waste 
and biomass

Ca 35% more renewable 
energy was produced 
compared to 2010

The share of 
renewable energy  
in total consumption 
increased to 13% 
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Good corporate 
governance
Elering is dedicated to complying with good corporate governance practices and wish 
to make continuous improvement in that area. We consider this as a prerequisite for 
achieving our strategic objectives and designing our organisational culture. 

We confirm as the principles for our activities, that:

the company’s risk management and control system are functioning and efficient;��

the company’s financial reporting and annual report are based on a functioning system ��

of risk management and internal control.  

Elering publishes its good corporate governance report on website www.elering.ee.

Management

The directing bodies of Elering are responsible for developing the company as a whole. 

Organogram 
Elering is a company that fully belongs to the state, which is represented at the general meeting 
by the Minister of Economic Affairs and Communications. Competence of the company’s owner 
includes: to amend the articles of association; to increase and decrease share capital; to elect and 
remove members of the Supervisory Board; to elect auditors; to designate a special audit; to approve 
the annual report and allocate profit; to decide on merger, division, transformation and/or  
dissolution of the company. 

In the company, the owner’s interests are guaranteed by members of the Supervisory Board  
(representatives of the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Commu-
nications). The Supervisory Board gives the Management Board instructions for organising the 
management of the company and exercises supervision over the activities of the company’s 
Management Board. The Supervisory Board determines, regularly reviews and assesses the 
company’s strategy, general action plan, principles of risk management and annual budget.

The Supervisory Board comprises three to five members. The number of the members of the 
Supervisory Board is decided and the members are elected by the owners. In 2011 the Supervisory 
Board of Elering has five members. The articles of association set out restrictions on the selection 
of members of the Supervisory Board, members of the Supervisory Board are elected and removed 
by the owner, i.e. the Minister of Economic Affairs and Communications. Fees of the members of 

Shareholder
(100% The Republic of 

Estonia) External Audit

Supervisory 
Board

Management 
Board

Audit Committee
Internal 
Auditor

Kalle Kukk
Strategy Manager
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the Supervisory Board are determined by a directive of the 
Minister of Economic Affairs and Communications.

Members of the Supervisory Board

Lauri Tammiste�� , Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
Head of the Energy Department, Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Communications (until 15.12.2011)
Ando Leppiman�� , Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
Head of the Energy Department, Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Communications (from 15.12.2011)
Heiki Tammoja�� , Director of Electrical Power 
Engineering Institute, Tallinn University of Technology
Thomas Auväärt�� , Head of the Financial Markets 
Department, Ministry of Finance
Jüri Raatma�� , Adviser of the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Communications
Aivar Sõerd�� , Member of Riigikogu

 
The Audit Committee, established by a resolution of 
the Supervisory Board, is responsible for exercising 
supervision over risk management, internal control 
and financial reporting. The Audit Committee is an 
advisory body of the Supervisory Board in the area of 
accounting, audit, risk management, internal control 
and audit, exercise of supervision and preparation of 
the budget, legality of activities. 

The Audit Committee comprises five members. Members 
of the Audit Committee are elected and removed by a 
decision of the Supervisory Board. Members of the Audit 
Committee are elected for a term of three years. Members 
of the Audit Committee elect from among themselves the 
chairman to organise the activities of the Audit Commit-
tee. The members of the Supervisory Board are paid an 
additional fee for participation in the Audit Committee.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee in 2011 was 
Thomas Auväärt. Members of the Audit Committee 
were Lauri Tammiste/Ando Leppiman, Heiki Tammoja, 
Jüri Raatma and Aivar Sõerd.

The Management Board of Elering has complete freedom 
of decision and everyday management decisions are made 
independently, without interference by the owner and the 
Supervisory Board. The Management Board needs the con-
sent of the Supervisory Board for transactions and opera-
tions that are beyond the everyday economic activities of 
the company. The Management Board ensures that the 
members of the Supervisory Board have sufficient infor-

mation of the company’s economic condition as well as 
more important matters related to the economic activities, 
and informs the Supervisory Board of the more important 
matters of the economic activities as necessary.

The Management Board comprises three members. 
Members of the Management Board are elected by the 
Supervisory Board for a term of five years. The Chairman 
of the Management Board organises the work of the 
Management Board as well as the everyday manage-
ment and economic activities of the company. The person 
authorised by the Supervisory Board concludes contracts 
with the members of the Management Board which set 
out the rights and obligations of the Management Board 
with regard to the company in a greater detail.

A member of the Management Board may be paid a fee 
only on the basis of a contract of management board 
member concluded with him or her. A member of the 
Management Board may be also paid an additional fee 
based on his or her performance in the amount of up to 
four months’ fee. Bonuses may be paid on the basis of 
the annual results or any other grounds based on a reso-
lution of the Supervisory Board. Fees of the members 
of the Supervisory Board are fixed and provided in a 
management board member contract. Elering has not 
established any long-term bonus systems. A member  
of the Management Board may be paid severance 
compensation only upon removal at the initiative of the 
Supervisory Board before expiry of the term of his or her 
authorities in the amount of up to three months’ fees.

Members of the Management Board 

Taavi Veskimägi�� , Chairman of the Management Board
Peep Soone�� , Member of the Management Board
Kalle Kilk�� , Member of the Management Board

 
In order to ensure independence, a declaration of inter-
ests of members of the Management Board is submitted 
to the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications. 
Transactions concluded with related parties are also 
declared upon approval and audit of the annual report.

Employees

Elering as an employer is characterised by low labour 
turnover and long length of service of its employees. In 
the financial year 2011, the average number of employees 

in Elering was 146, of whom 74% were men and 26% 
women. As of the end of the year, the average age of 
employees was 42. The labour turnover in 2011 was 6%.

Reproduction and development of employees are of 
critical importance for ensuring continuous success of 
the company. We collaborate with several institutions 
of higher education and offer the selected students a 
thorough practical training programme. Of the employ-
ees, 80% have higher education and many employees 
combine work with education. As of the end of 2011, 
approx. 20% of Elering’s staff simultaneously studied 
for a degree in higher education institutions. In col-
laboration with Tallinn University of Technology, we 
organise energy-related in-service training courses to 
our engineering and technical staff.

The age composition of the staff is a cross-section of 
different generations. The strength of the company 
lies in equal representation of different generations 
in the staff. Senior specialists with their experience 
of several years and young people with their recently 
acquired academic education complement each other. 
We elect and recognise our best employees with the 
annual title “Person of a year”.

Risk management and  
internal control system 

The Management Board is responsible for the func-
tioning of the internal control system of the company. 
To ensure the functioning of the internal control sys-
tem, the position of an internal auditor will be created 
on the basis of the articles of association or the inter-
nal auditor service will be outsourced to an audit com-
pany. The Management Board has concluded a contract 
with AS PricewaterhouseCoopers for outsourcing the 
internal auditor service. In 2011 the company drew up a 
description of the internal regulations. All the regula-
tions of the high level, for example rules, will be drawn 
up or updated during 2012.

Risk management objectives in Elering are:

to manage and describe the risk ��

management processes in the company;

to define the roles and responsibilities of the ��

parties to the risk management process;

to ensure that all risks are identifiable, ��

assessable and they can be responded to;

to help the managers to understand ��

and manage risks in a better way.

The principles of risk management policy in  
Elering must ensure that:

the culture, processes and structure of the ��

company encourage the fulfilment of the 
company’s strategic objectives and at the 
same also the identification, management, 
monitoring and, if possible, the hedge of risks;

the monitoring and management of the ��

company’s risks and the internal control 
system are based on the internationally 
recognised “Enterprise Risk Management 
(ERM) Model” developed by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO), a voluntary organisation 
that promotes good corporate governance;

all relevant legislation, standards, regulations ��

and contractual obligations as well as 
requirements and expectations arising from 
society have been taken into account upon 
management of the company’s risks;

we are continuously improving the risk ��

management activities in the company.

Disclosure of information

The company’s website presents a separate list of data 
that is subject to disclosure by Elering on the basis of the 
legislature. The website presents annual reports, financial 
results, operating information, main activities, structure, 
strategy, news and notices as well as other information 
that is necessary for investors and the public at large. 
The website is also available in English. The information 
on website www.elering.ee (incl. news and notices) is 
continuously updated.
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Launching natural  
gas business line

Elering is responsible for a wider security of 
energy supply in Estonia. Therefore, it is  
Elering’s responsibility as an independent 
system administrator operating on the basis 
of public interest, to create preconditions for 
emergence of more effective competition in 
the Estonian energy market and to create 
foundation for development of a functioning 
gas market. 

Over the recent years natural gas has started to attract 
more serious attention everywhere in the world. Techno-
logical development that made natural gas play increas-
ingly big role in the energy sector can be named as the 
main reason for that. Increased production of shale 
gas, changes in corridors for supply of liquefied gas and 
substitution of liquid fuels with natural gas are just some 
examples. At the same time Europe has become increas-
ingly concerned about security of natural gas supplies.  

This fundamental change for Elering, as a result of which 
it shifted the focus from security of electricity supply to 
wider security of energy supply in Estonia, happened in 
2010, when by a decision of the Government of Repub-
lic, the company was obligated to develop gas-related 
competence in Elering in addition to its electricity-related 
competence. The most valuable result of Elering’s 
involvement in the gas market development process is 
creation in Estonia of an alternative competence centre, 
which, being an independent system administrator, is 
impartial towards all the market participants and which 
acts on the basis of interests of the public.

In 2011 intensive activities aimed at development of the 
gas market took place under the leadership of Elering. 
In order to carefully explore the current situation and 
the required actions, in May 2011 Elering, on the basis 
of results of the tender, contracted Pöyry Management 
Consulting (UK) Ltd company to perform analysis of the 
pros and cons related to liberalisation of the gas market, 
and to prepare the plan of required further actions. 
In the course of preparation of the document various 
target group and stakeholders, ministries and other 
state agencies, as well as different market participants 
including Eesti Gaas were consulted.

This analysis is the first thorough and complete study 
of development of the gas market published in Esto-
nia, which creates a foundation for further actions. The 
main conclusion of the report stated that in order to 
develop the domestic gas market and achieve com-
petitive environment, a package of activities must be 
implemented in Estonia, one of the most important 
of which is separation of ownership of the natural gas 
transmission network from import and sale of gas. In 
2011 the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communica-
tions prepared amendments to the Natural Gas Act, 
which were approved by the Estonian Government, and 
according to which the transmission network should 
be a separate and independent system administrator 
should be crated by the end of 2014.

Another important action according to the report was 
development of the natural gas infrastructure, so that 
alternative suppliers could enter the market. In 2011 
Elering in cooperation with Port of Tallinn started prepa- 
ration of the project for building a regional liquefied 
natural gas (LNG) terminal in Port of Muuga. According 
to the initial plans the first stage of the LNG terminal 
will be put into operation in 2015.

Realisation of all the activities stated in the gas market 
development report is a precondition for creation of the 
regional gas market and effective competition as well as 
reduction of sphere of influence of a dominating market 
participant in the local value chain of gas business.  
Creation of an alternative gas sector competence is also 
of an equal importance. These steps should significantly 
increase not only security of gas supply, but also security 
of energy supply of Estonia as a whole.

Perspectives of use of natural gas as the primary fuel 
in Estonia are designated by the state development 
plan for the energy sector. In 2012 Elering wants to 
contribute to updating this document. We are waiting 
for a public debate on the matter, in the course of which 
future directions for natural gas in Estonia could be 
designated.
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Statement of Financial Position

in thousands of euros Note 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 23,550 40,064

Deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months 7 30,000 0

Trade and other receivables 8 18,671 21,868

Total current assets 72,221 61,932

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 9 410,434 354,361

Intangible assets 10 3,723 3,100

Total non-current assets 414,157 357,461

TOTAL ASSETS 486,378 419,393

LiABiLiTiES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 35,348 36,341

Total current liabilities 35,348 36,341

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 11 221,639 185,695

Deferred income 13 24,077 22,330

Government grants 13 15,045 15,149

Total non-current liabilities 260,761 223,174

TOTAL LiABiLiTiES 296,109 259,515

EQUiTY
Share capital 14 149,890 140,000

Statutory reserve capital 14 3,490 2,814

Retained earnings 14 36,889 17,064

TOTAL EQUiTY 190,269 159,878
   

TOTAL LiABiLiTiES AND EQUiTY 486,378 419,393

The notes on pages 52 to 81 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

in thousands of euros Note 2011 2010

Revenue 15 94,156 88,865

Other income 16 247 86

Goods, raw materials and services 17 -37,339 -37,756

Other operating expenses 18 -3,177 -2,943

Staff costs 19 -3,949 -3,804

Depreciation and amortisation 9, 10 -21,245 -23,639

Other expenses 20 -126 -41

Operating profit 28,567 20,767

Finance income 21 661 86

Finance costs 21 -8,727 -7,335

Profit before income tax 20,501 13,518

Profit for the year  20,501 13,518
Total comprehensive income for the year  20,501 13,518

The notes on pages 52 to 81 are an integral part of these financial statements.

48 49



Statement of Changes in Equity

in thousands of euros
Share 

capital 
Statutory 

reserve capital
Retained 
earnings Total

Balance as of 1.1.2010 134,214 2,814 3,545 140,573
Contribution to share capital 5,786 0 0 5,786

Comprehensive income for financial year 0 0 13,519 13,519

Balance as of 31.12.2010 140,000 2,814 17,064 159,878
Contribution to share capital 9,890 0 0 9,890

Comprehensive income for financial year 0 0 20,501 20,501

Transfers to statutory reserve capital 0 676 -676 0

Balance as of 31.12.2011 149,890 3,490 36,889 190,269

More detailed information on share capital and other equity items is set out in Note 14.

The notes on pages 52 to 81 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Cash Flow Statement

in thousands of euros Note
1/1/2011-

31/12/2011
1/1/2010-

31/12/2010

CASH FLOwS FROM OPERATiNG ACTiViTiES
Profit before income tax 20,501 13,518

Adjustments for:

 Profit from sale of property, plant and equipment 16 -22 -61

 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1.9 21,244 23,639

 Expending government grants 13 -105 0

 Interest expenses 21 8,724 7,329

 Interest income -661 -85

Changes in working capital:

 Changes in receivables and prepayments related to operating activities 8 3,293 -8,728

 Changes in liabilities and prepayments related to operating activities 12 -10,985 16,370

Changes in deferred income from connection and other service fees 13 1,747 182

Cash generated from operations 43,737 52,164
Interest paid 21  -6,056 -5,592

Interest received  640 68

NET CASH USED iN OPERATiNG ACTiViTiES  38,323 46,640
 

CASH FLOwS FROM iNVESTiNG ACTiViTiES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets 9.10 -69,225 -26,101

Net change in deposits with maturities of over 3 months 7 -30,000 0

Foreign grants to acquire non-current assets 13 0 15,149

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  60 323

NET CASH USED iN iNVESTiNG ACTiViTiES  -99,165 -10,629

CASH FLOwS FROM FiNANCiNG ACTiViTiES
Repayment of short-term borrowings 11 0 -130,801

Net change in overdraft 11 0 -56,834

Long-term bank loans received 11 0 185,902

Bank loans repaid 11 -187,000 0

Bonds issued 11 221,438 0

Contribution to share capital 14 9,890 5,786

NET CASH USED iN FiNANCiNG ACTiViTiES  44,328 4,053

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -16,514 40,064
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6 40,064 0
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 23,550 40,064

The notes on pages 52 to 81 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements

Note 1

ELERING AS AND ITS OpERATIONS

The financial statements of Elering AS (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2011 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union.

On 25.02.2011 the sole shareholder of the Company made the resolution to transform Elering 
OÜ into a public limited company. The transformation was completed on 08.04.2011.

The Company is domiciled in the Republic of Estonia. The Company’s registered address is Kadaka 
tee 42, 12915 Tallinn, Estonia. The Company’s principal business activity is electricity transmission  
within the Republic of Estonia. The economic activities of the Company are regulated by the 
Estonian and EU legislation. The Estonian Competition Board monitors the Company’s network 
activities and provision of balancing service, and approves network tariffs and standard terms of 
respective contracts.

From 27.01.2010, the sole shareholder of the Company is the Republic of Estonia, until then, 
the Company’s immediate parent company was Eesti Energia AS whose sole shareholder is 
the Republic of Estonia.

The Management Board approved these financial statements on 30.03.2012. Pursuant to the 
Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia, the annual report shall be presented for approval 
to the Company’s Supervisory Board and the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Note 2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES 

Bases of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union under the historical cost 
convention. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Functional and presentation currency
On 1 January Estonia joined the Eurozone and adopted euro as its currency, which replaced the 
Estonian kroon. As a result of this from 2011 the Company’s functional currency is euro and 
all amounts in financial statements are presented in thousands of euros. Comparative data 
concerning the previous periods is converted into euros at the exchange rate of 15.6466 EEK/
EUR, which was previously applied as the fixed exchange rate

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates of the European Central Bank (2010: Bank of Estonia) prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such tran-
sactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the income statement.

Financial assets
The purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date — the date on 
which the Company commits to purchase or sell a certain financial asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.

Depending on the purpose for which financial assets were acquired as well as management’s 
intentions, financial assets are classified into the following categories at initial recognition 
according to IAS 39:  

 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;��

loans and receivables;��

held-to-maturity investments;��

available-for-sale financial assets. ��

On 31 December 2011 (as well as 31 December 2010), the Company had no other classes of 
financial assets than those classified under the category of ‘loans and receivables’. As of 
balance sheet date the Company had no derivative instruments.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are unquoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determina-
ble payments other than those that the Company intends to sell in the near term. Financial 
assets that are not recognised at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at 
fair value to which transaction costs are added. After initial recognition, loans and receivab-
les are accounted for at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method unless the 
payment date falls within 30 days.

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evi-
dence that a financial asset is impaired. A financial asset is impaired and impairment losses 
are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The criteria that the Company uses to deter-
mine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include: significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reor-
ganisation, and a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments for more 
than 90 days.
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The amount of the loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. 

Uncollectible loans and receivables are written off against the related allowance account.

The Company recognises the following financial assets in the category of ’loans and receivab-
les’: “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months” and 
“Trade and other receivables”.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash 
and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Prepayments
Prepayments are carried at cost less a provision for impairment. A prepayment is classified as 
non-current when the goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to be obtai-
ned after one year, or when the prepayment relates to an asset which itself will be classified 
as non-current upon initial recognition. Prepayments to acquire assets are transferred to the 
carrying amount of the asset once the Company has obtained control of the asset and it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Company. 
Other prepayments are written off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating to the 
prepayments are received. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating 
to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying amount of the prepayment is written down 
accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is property, plant and equipment that are used in business 
activities and the useful life of which exceeds one year. Property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in statements of financial position as carrying amount which constitutes historical 
cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Other than the purc-
hase price, cost of the acquired property, plant and equipment includes transportation and 
installation expenses, as well as other expenses directly related to acquisition and putting 
such assets into operation. Cost includes borrowing costs incurred on specific or general funds 
borrowed to finance construction of qualifying assets. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only if they meet respective property, plant and equipment criteria. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs 
are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If property, plant and equipment consist of components with significantly different useful 
lives, the components are recognised as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other items of property, plant and equipment is 
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives: 

Useful lives in years

Buildings 25-40

Facilities – electricity transmission lines 30-60

Other facilities 10-30

Machinery and equipment - electricity transmission equipment 7-25

Other property, plant and equipment 3-20

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Company would currently 
obtain from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were 
already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets’  
residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, on each balance 
sheet date.

On each reporting date management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment 
of property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, management estimates the 
recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. An impairment loss recognised for an 
asset in prior years is reversed where appropriate if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals and write-offs determined by comparing proceeds with the 
carrying amount are recognised in profit or loss. 

intangible assets
An intangible asset is initially recognised at its cost, comprising its purchase price, any 
directly attributable expenditure on preparing the asset for its intended use and borrowing 
costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use. After 
initial recognition, an intangible asset is carried at its acquisition cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

Acquired software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring them to use. 

Personal right of use. Payments made for rights of superficies and servitudes meeting the 
criteria for recognition as intangible assets are recognised as intangible assets. The costs 
related to rights of use of land are depreciated according to the contract period, not excee-
ding 100 years.

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives:

Useful lives in years

Software licences 3-5 years

Personal rights of use 50-100 years

If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in 
use and fair value less costs to sell.
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impairment of non-financial assets
Land and assets that are subject to depreciation/amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment loss are reviewed for 
possible reversal of impairment on each reporting date. 

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by 
the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made or received under operating 
leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities have the following measurement categories: (a) held for trading which 
also includes financial derivatives and (b) other financial liabilities. The Company has financial 
liabilities only in the category of ‘other financial liabilities’. 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incur-
red and are subsequently carried at amortised cost. The amortised cost of current liabilities 
normally equals their nominal value; therefore current liabilities are stated in the balance 
sheet in their redemption value. Non-current liabilities are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost. The difference between the amortised cost and the redemption value is recognised as 
interest expense in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effec-
tive interest rate method. The borrowing costs associated with the assets meeting respective 
requirements are capitalised as cost of the assets.

A financial liability is classified as current when it is due within 12 months after the balance 
sheet date or the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer the payment for 
longer than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Borrowings with a due date of 12 months 
or less after the balance sheet date that are refinanced into non-current borrowings after 
the balance sheet date but before the approval of the annual report, are classified as current. 
Borrowings that the lender has the right to recall due to the violation of terms specified in the 
contract if such right is established by the balance sheet date are also classified as current 
liabilities.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there 
is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing or 
amount. They are accrued when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events and, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be made. 

Other possible or present obligations arising from past events but whose settlement is not 
probable or the amount of which cannot be measured with sufficient reliability are disclosed 
as contingent liabilities in the notes to the financial statements.

Development costs
Development costs are costs that are incurred in applying research findings for the develop-
ment of specific new products or processes. Development costs are capitalised if all of the 
criteria for recognition specified in IAS 38 have been met. Capitalised development costs are 
amortised over the period during which the products are expected to be used. Expenses rela-
ted to research carried out for collecting new scientific or technical information and training 
costs are not capitalised. 

Share capital
Share capital is classified as equity. The Company does not have any preference shares. Inc-
remental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are recognised as a reduction 
of equity. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares 
issued is recorded as share premium in equity.

Dividends
Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity in the period in which they 
are declared and approved. Any dividends declared after the balance sheet date and before 
the financial statements are authorised for issue are disclosed in the note Events after the 
Balance Sheet Date. 

Statutory reserve capital
Statutory reserve capital is formed to comply with the requirements of the Commercial Code. 
Reserve capital is formed from annual net profit allocations. During each financial year, at 
least one-twentieth of the net profit shall be entered in reserve capital, until reserve capital 
reaches one-tenth of share capital. Reserve capital may be used to cover a loss, or to increase 
share capital. Payments shall not be made to shareholders from reserve capital.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of VAT 
and discounts. 

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point of transfer of risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods, normally when the goods are shipped. 

Sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rende-
red, by reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of 
the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. The sales of 
network services and balancing energy fall into this category.

Recognition of connection fees. When connecting to the electricity network, the ��

clients must pay a connection fee based on the actual costs of infrastructure 
to be built in order to connect to the network. The revenue from connection 
fees is deferred and recognised as income evenly over the estimated customer 
relationship period. The amortisation period of connection fees is 20 years. Deferred 
connection fees are carried in the balance sheet as long-term deferred income.

Interest income. Interest income is recognised on a time-��

proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
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Recognition of government grants
Government grants are recognised at fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that 
the Company will comply with all the conditions attached to government grants and that the 
grant will be received. The government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis over the periods in which the Company expenses the related costs for which the grants 
are intended to compensate.

Government grants are presented in the statement of financial position using the gross met-
hod, according to which the government grant is recognised at its cost, and if the government 
grant is received in the form of a transfer of a non-monetary asset, it is recognised at its fair 
value. The amount of the government grant received for the purpose of acquisition of assets 
is recognised as deferred income from government grants. The acquired asset is depreciated 
and the grant is credited to income over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Subsidies to electricity producers
The law obliges the Company to participate in supporting mechanism for eligible electricity 
producers (first and foremost power plants using renewable sources of energy). The Company 
collects subsidies from consumers and distribution network operators and pays it out to to 
those electricity producers who meet the criteria.

In accordance with current principles, the Company prepares an estimate of the amount of 
subsidies for the following calendar year, based on estimates on the amount of electricity 
produced by these producers, and the amount of network services to be provided to the end 
users in Estonia. The Company uses these estimates to determine the charge of subsidy for 
the following calendar year per kWh (kilowatt-hour) of network services, taking into account 
any difference between estimated and actual amounts of subsidies paid during the previous 
period (November through October).

The customers are charged according to the estimated charge per kWh. Due to the different 
reasons the actual amounts paid out and received as subsidies always differ from the esti-
mated amounts. Over or under collected subsidies are shown in the balance sheet as either 
Trade and other payables (in case of surplus) or Trade and other receivables (in case of deficit). 
These balances are taken into account when determining the charge for the next period as 
described above. Collecting and paying of subsidies has no impact on the comprehensive 
income of the Company. See also Notes 8 and 12.

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, contributions to the state pension, paid annual leave, sick leave and bonu-
ses, along with social and unemployment taxes are recognised in the income statement in 
the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Company. Any 
amounts unpaid by the balance sheet date are recognised as a liability. 

If during the reporting period, an employee has provided services for which payment of com-
pensation is to be expected, the Company will recognise a liability (accrued expense) in the 
amount of forecasted compensation, from which all amounts already paid will be deducted.

income tax
According to the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by entities is not taxed in Estonia. 
Corporate income tax is paid on dividends, fringe benefits, gifts, donations, costs of entertai-

ning guests, non-business related disbursements and adjustments of the transfer price. 
From 1 January 2008, the tax rate on the net dividends paid out of retained earnings is 21/79. 
The corporate income tax arising from the payment of dividends is recognised as a liability 
and an income tax expense in the period in which dividends are declared, regardless of the 
period for which the dividends are paid or the actual payment date. An income tax liability is 
due on the 10th day of the month following the payment of dividends. 

Due to the nature of the taxation system, the companies registered in Estonia do not have 
any differences between the tax bases of assets and their carrying amounts and hence, no 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities arise. A contingent income tax liability which would 
arise upon the payment of dividends is not recognised in the balance sheet. The maximum 
income tax liability which would accompany the distribution of Company’s retained earnings 
is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Value added tax
Output value added tax related to sales is payable to tax authorities at the earlier of (a)  
collection of receivables from customers or (b) delivery of goods or services to customers.  
Input VAT is generally recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice.  
The tax authorities permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis.

Other taxes in Estonia
The following taxes had an effect on the Company’s expenses.

Tax Tax rate

Social security tax 33% of the paid payroll to employees and fringe benefits

Unemployment insurance tax Until 31.05.2009: 0.3%, until 31.07.2009: 1%, from 
01.08.2009: 1.4% of the payroll paid to employees,

Fringe benefit income tax 21/79 of fringe benefits paid to employees

Land tax 1-2.5% on taxable value of land per annum

Excise tax on electricity Until 28.02.2010: 3.20 euros per MWh of electricity,  
from 01.03.2010: 4.47 euros per MWh of electricity

Corporate income tax on  
non-business related expenses

21/79 on non-business related expenses

Note 3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN AppLYING 
ACCOUNTING pOLICIES 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 
management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judge-
ments, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting 
policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include: 
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Revenue recognition (connection fees)
The Company recognises all connection and other service fees (Note 13) as income over the  
estimated customer relationship period as the entity has a constructive obligation to provide  
a supply of electricity to the end customer and to meet certain performance standards regar-
ding availability of supply, the Company also has an ongoing obligation to maintain the connec-
tion. Thus a new connection has no standalone value without ongoing access to the network.

The customer relationship period is 20 years based on management’s estimate. In the repor-
ting period, income from connection and other service fees totalled 1,222 thousand euros 
(2010: 1,147 thousand euros). If the estimated customer relationship period were increased by 
25%, the annual income from connection fees would decrease by 244 thousand euros  
(2010: 229 thousand euros).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment (Note 8) are based  
on management’s estimates regarding the period during which the asset will be used.  
The estimation of economic lives is based on historical experience and takes into considera-
tion production capacity and physical condition of the assets. Previous experience has shown 
that the actual useful lives have sometimes been longer than the estimates. In the reporting 
period, depreciation amounted to 20,934 thousand euros (2010: 19,651 thousand euros).  
If depreciation rates were increased/decreased by 20%, the depreciation charge for the  
year would increase/decrease by 4,187 thousand euros (2010: 3 930 thousand euros). 

Note 4

NEW ACCOUNTING pRONOUNCEMENTS

Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations 
The new standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that became 
effective for the Company from 1 January 2011 had no effect on the financial statements and 
have no importance with respect to the Company’s business activity.

New or revised standards and interpretations
New or revised standards or interpretations that have not yet become effective are not 
expected to have significant effect on the Company.

Note 5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk management function is performed at the Company in accordance with internationally  
approved Enterprise Risk Management Mode methodology, which has been developed by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

The Company’s risks are assessed in four categories: strategic, operational, financial and 
external risks. Financial risk comprises market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The primary objectives of the financial risk management function  
are to establish risk limits, and then to ensure that exposure to risks stays within these 
limits. Risk management is monitored at the Management Board level and the results are 
reported to the Supervisory Board. The Company’s liquidity, interest rate and currency risks 
are managed at the Company’s Finance Department.

The following table provides reconciliation of classes of financial assets and financial liabilities  
of the Company in accordance with the measurement categories of IAS 39:

Financial assets 

Loans and receivables:

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 23,550 40,064

Deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months (Note 7) 30,000 0

Trade and other receivables (Note 8) 17,085 21,553

Total financial assets 70,635 61,617

Other financial liabilities 

Muud finantskohustused:

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Trade and other payables (Note 12) 34,401 35,690

Borrowings (Note 11) 221,639 185,695

Total financial liabilities 256,040 221,385

Credit risk
The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial 
instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  
Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the Company’s sales on credit terms and other 
transactions with counterparties giving rise to financial assets. In accordance with the 
Company’s risk management principles, the Company’s short-term available cash resources 
can be deposited in the following domestic financial instruments: overnight deposits at credit 
institutions, term deposits at credit institutions. The following principles are followed when 
depositing short-term available cash resources: ensuring of liquidity, capital preservation, 
revenue generation.

60 61



The Company’s assets exposed to credit risk as of balance sheet days were as follows:

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 23,550 40,064

Deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months (Note 7) 30,000 0

Trade and other receivables (Note 8) 17,085 21,553

Total exposure of assets to credit risk
in the statement of financial position

70,635 61,617

The Company structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount 
of risk accepted in relation to counterparties or groups of counterparties or by applying 
additional instruments for credit risk management. The participants in the tender for building 
investment objects must meet requirements concerning amount of equity and provide bank 
guarantees the amount of which depends on the value of the contract. The Company estab-
lished criteria for holding financial assets at credit institutions. According to the given criteria 
maximum permitted limits depend on the credit rating and equity of the credit institution. 
Limits on the level of credit risk are approved regularly by management. Such risks are moni-
tored on an ongoing basis and they are subject to a biannual review.

The Company’s Accounting Department reviews ageing analysis of outstanding trade recei-
vables and follows up on past due balances each week. The results are reported to the CFO of 
the Company. The Company has identified circumstances under which the collection of debt is 
passed over to a collection agency. Information about credit risk is disclosed in Note 8.

Credit risk concentration
The Company is exposed to concentrations of credit risk. Management monitors and discloses 
concentrations of credit risk by reports, which list exposures to counterparty with aggregated 
balances in excess of 5% of the Company’s equity. On 31.12.2011, the Company had 1 counter-
party (distribution network operator) (31.12.2010: 1 counterparty) with an aggregated recei-
vables balance of 13,614 thousand euros (31.12.2010: 15,808 thousand euros) or 83% of the 
gross amount of trade and other receivables (31.12.2010: 73%;).

Market risk
The Company is exposed to market risk. Market risk arises from open positions in (a) foreign 
currencies and (b) interest bearing assets and liabilities. Management sets limits on the value 
of exposed positions that may be accepted, which is monitored on a daily basis. However, the 
use of this approach does not completely prevent losses outside of these limits, but limits 
their maximum amounts.

Sensitivities to market risks shown below are based on a change in one factor while holding 
all other factors constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the fac-
tors may be correlated – for example, changes in interest rate and changes in foreign currency 
rates.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that in the future fair value of financial instruments of cash flow 
will fluctuate due to chances of currency rates. As most of the Company’s transactions and 
balances are denominated in euros, the Company is not exposed to significant currency risk. 
The Company established separate limits for open currency positions depending on the  

currency and duration. Open position with duration over one month cannot exceed the 
amount of one million euros in any currency. 

Transactions in other currencies are insignificant; there were no financial instruments deno-
minated in other currencies as of 31.12.2011 and 01.01.2010.

interest rate risk
As of 31 December 2011 long-term bonds constituted 100% of the Company’s long-term bor-
rowing liabilities carried at amortised cost. Long-term bonds were issued on 12.07.2011 with 
maturity of seven years and the nominal value of 225 million euros. Bonds’ coupon is fixed at 
4.625% p.a. and interest payments are made once a year. Before 13.07.2011 the Company had 
a loan from a bank syndicate. Euro was the currency and the interest rate on the loan was 
Euribor + 300 basis points. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the Company had the right to 
choose between 3-month and 6-month Euribor for each following interest period. Euribor was 
fixed one day prior to the beginning of the new interest period: the Company’s management 
decided whether to fix the interest rate for three or six months, depending on which option 
was expected to be more favourable. The Company’s interest-bearing financial assets are 
overnight deposits and term deposits. The rate for overnight deposits is being fixed once a 
day and term deposits have a fixed interest rate for the whole term of the deposit.

Floating interest financial instruments (until 13.07.2011: loan) expose the Company to cash 
flow interest rate risk, i.e. the risk that increase in market interest rates will cause increase in 
the Company’s interest expense. At the same time, in case of short-term deposits, change in 
market interest rates has effect on the Company’s interest income arising from investment 
of available resources into new deposits. The Company established the minimum limit for 
fixed interest-bearing liabilities at 60% of all liabilities. Fixed interest financial instruments 
create fair value interest rate risk. Since the Company does not recognise interest-bearing 
financial instruments at fair value, change in market interest rates does not have effect on 
balance value of available assets or liabilities, nor interest income or expense arising from 
them. 

The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks in 2011 and 2010. 
The table presents the aggregated amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 
at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual interest repricing and maturity 
dates.

in thousands of euros

On demand
and less than

1 month
From 1 to

12 months Above 5 years Total

31.12.2011
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 23,550 0 0 23,550
Deposits at banks with maturities of  
over 3 months (Note 7) 0 30,000 0 30,000

Long-term bonds 0 0 -221,639 -221,639

Net interest sensitivity gap on 
31.12.2011 23,550 30,000 -221,639  -168,089
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in thousands of euros

On demand
and less than

1 month
From 1 to

12 months Total

31.12.2010
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 40,064 0 40,064
Long-term borrowings (Note 11) -185,695 0 -185,695
Net interest sensitivity gap at 31.12.2010 -145,631 0 -145,631

The Company did not have other financial instruments exposed to risk of change in interest rate.

If in 2011, interest rates had been 10 basis points lower (in 2010: 10 basis points) or 100 basis 
point higher (in 2010: 100 basis points) with all other variables held constant, profit for the 
year would have been 222 thousand euros (2010: 186 thousand euros) higher or 2,216 thousand  
euros (2010: 1,857 thousand euros) lower, mainly as a result of a lower/higher interest expense  
on variable interest liabilities.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. The Company is exposed to daily calls on its available 
cash resources. Liquidity risk is managed by the Finance Department of the Company. The 
Company’s objective is to obtain a stable funding base primarily consisting of amounts due to 
banks and bonds. The liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing under 
a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions is performed 
by the Finance Department.

The table below shows liabilities on 31.12.2011 and 31.12.2010 by their remaining contractual 
maturity. The amounts disclosed in the maturity table are contractual undiscounted cash flows.

When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to 
the conditions existing on the reporting date. Foreign currency payments are translated using 
the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date.

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities on 31.12.2011 is as follows:

in thousands of euros

On demand
and less 

than
1 month

From
1 to 12

months

From
12 months

to 5 years
Over  

5 years Total

Liabilities*
Trade and other payables (Note 12) 29,436 61 0 0 29,497
Borrowings (Note 11) 0 10,406 36,151 251,344 297,901
Total future payments 29,436 10,467 36,151 251,344 327,398

*   including interest expenses

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities on 31.12.2010 is as follows:

in thousands of euros

On demand
and less 

than
1 month

From
1 to 12

months

From
12 months

to 5 years Total

Liabilities*
Trade and other payables (Note 12) 33,954 0 0 33,954
Bank and parent company overdrafts (Note 11) 9 0 0 9
Borrowings (Note 11) 1,727 7,576 193,201 202,504
Total future payments 35,690 7,576 193,201 236,467

*   including interest expenses

For ensuring liquidity and better management of cash flows, the Company has concluded an 
overdraft contract amounting to 20,000 thousand euros and holds its money in liquid bank 
deposits. As of the financial year the Company’s total available cash resources (cash and 
cash equivalents, as well as deposits with maturities of over 3 months) amounted to 53,550 
thousand euros. See further information in Notes 6 and 7.

In addition, as of 31.12.2011 the Company had undrawn borrowing facilities amounting to 
100,000 thousand euros. As of 31.12.2010 the Company had overdraft contracts with banks 
amounting to 20,000 thousand euros. See further information in Note 11. The Company was 
granted irrecoverable financial help amounting to 50,000  thousand euros from the European 
Union for building of EstLink 2 electricity interconnector between Estonia and Finland, of 
which 15,000 thousand euros were transferred in 2010. The Company is eligible to receive the 
remaining part over 2012-2014 in accordance with completion of the project stages.

Capital Management
The Company’s main goal in capital risk management is to ensure the Company’s sustaina-
bility of operations in order to generate return for its shareholders and provide a sense of 
security to creditors and thereby, preserve an optimal capital structure and lower the cost of 
capital. In order to preserve or improve the capital structure, the Company can regulate the 
dividends payable to the shareholders, buy back shares from shareholders, issue new shares 
or bonds and take new loans. 

According to the widespread industry practice, the Company uses the equity to asset ratio for 
monitoring the Company’s capital structure, arrived at by dividing total equity by total assets 
as of the balance sheet date. Starting from 2011 the Company’s goal has been to preserve the 
ratio of equity to assets at 35-45%. Before 2011 the goal was maintaining the ratio of  35-55%.
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The equity to asset ratio was 39% as of 31.12.2011 and 38% as of 31.12.2010.

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Equity 190,269 159,878

Total assets 486,303 419,393

Equity to asset ratio 39% 38%

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current tran-
saction between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best expres-
sed by an active quoted market price.

Estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Company using 
available market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies.  
Judgement is also required to interpret market data to determine the fair value.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
Carrying amounts of trade and other financial receivables approximate their fair values.

Liabilities carried at amortised cost
Carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.

The estimated fair value of non-current borrowings with a fixed interest rate is determined 
using valuation techniques, based on expected cash flows discounted at current interest rates 
for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

Management estimates that the fair values of borrowings as of 31.12.2011 and 31.12.2010 do 
not significantly differ from their carrying amount because the risk margins have not changed.  
The only liabilities as of 31.12.2011 were bonds the market value of which without the accrued 
interest was 227,624 thousand euros (nominal value 225,000 thousand euros).  
The only liability as of 31.12.2010 was the non-tradable syndicate loan which was refinanced 
on 13.07.2011 with the help of bonds with similar interest. 

Note 6

CASh AND CASh EqUIVALENTS

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Bank accounts 465 17,695

Short-term deposits 23,085 22,369

Total cash and cash equivalents 23,550 40,064

Bank accounts and deposits

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Deposits at banks:
with Moody’s credit rating of Aa3 0 22,378

with Moody’s credit rating of Aa2 10,000 7,090

with Moody’s credit rating of A1 11,148 0

with no Moody’s credit rating* 2,402 10,596

Total deposits at banks 23,550 40,064

* Two banks without credit rating at which the Company holds its money are Estonia-based subsidiaries of international  
banks with Moody’s credit ratings of A1 and A2.

 

Note 7

DEpOSITS AT BANKS WITh MATURITIES OF OVER 3 MONThS

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months 30,000 0

Total deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months 30,000 0
 
 
Deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011

with Moody’s credit rating of Aa2 4,000

with Moody’s credit rating of A1 18,000

with no Moody’s credit rating * 8,000

Total deposits at banks with maturities of over 3 months 30,000

* Two banks without credit rating at which the Company holds its money are Estonia-based subsidiaries  
of international banks with Moody’s credit rating of A1 and A2.

During the financial year effective interest rates of deposits with maturities of over 3 months  
amounted to 1.4-1.88%. During the financial year deposit maturities amounted to 122-188 days.
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Note 8

TRADE AND OThER RECEIVABLES

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Trade receivables

Accounts receivable 16,386 21,535

 incl: trade receivables from related parties (Note 23) 14,412 17,473

Other receivables 699 18

 incl: subsidies due to electricity producers (Note 2 and 12) 587 0

 incl: interest receivable 112 18

 incl: allowance for doubtful receivables -12 -24

Total financial assets within trade and other receivables 17,085 21,553
Tax receivables 1,438 253

 incl: VAT recoverable 1,435 248

Prepayments 148 62

Total trade and other receivables 18,671 21,868

Analysis by credit quality of trade receivables is as follows:

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Accounts receivable not yet due

 Related parties excluding distribution networks 798 1,466

 Related parties: distribution networks 13,614 15,808

 Non-related distribution networks 1,027 1,309

 Other clients 911 2,921

Total accounts receivable not yet due 16,350 21,504
Accounts receivable past due but not classified as doubtful (IAS 39)

 1 to 90 days overdue 36 31

Total accounts receivable past due
but not classified as doubtful 36 31

Accounts receivable classified as doubtful

 over 90 days overdue 12 23

Total accounts receivable classified as doubtful 12 23
Total accounts receivable past due 48 54
Total trade receivables 16,386 21,535

Note 9

pROpERTY, pLANT AND EqUIpMENT

in thousands of euros Land Buildings Facilities

Machinery 
and 

equipment Other
Construction  

in progress Total

Property, plant and equipment on 01.01.2010
Cost at 01.01.2010 3,716 16,272 232,868 184,339 49 0 437,244

Accumulated depreciation 0 -2,577 -57,946 -44,591 -9 0 -105,123

Carrying amount on 01.01.2010 3,716 13,695 174,923 139,748 39 0 332,121
Construction in progress 0 0 0 0 0 20,299 20,299

Prepayments 126 0 0 0 0 0 126

Total property, plant and
equipment  on 01.01.2010

3,842 13,695 174,923 139,748 39 20,299 352,546

Movements 1.1.2010-31.12.2010
Additions 532 0 0 57 0 24,098 24,687

Reclassified from construction in progress 0 745 7,491 19,675 0 -27,911 0

Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 21) 0 0 0 0 0 982 982

Disposals in carrying amount -1 0 0 -261 0 0 -262

Depreciation charge 0 -483 -9,380 -9,776 -12 0 -19,651

Impairment charge 0 0 -3,581 -58 0 -301 -3,940

Total movements 1.1.2010-31.12.2010 531 262 -5,470 9,637 -12 -3,132 1,816

Cost at  31.12.2010 4,247 16,835 235,498 201,518 49 0 458,147

Accumulated depreciation 0 -2,878 -66,046 -52,134 -21 0 -121,079

Carrying amount  on 31.12.2010 4,247 13,957 169,452 149,384 28 0 337,068
Construction in progress 0 0 0 0 0 17,167 17,167

Prepayments 126 0 0 0 0 0 126

Total property, plant and equipment on 
31.12.2010

4,373 13,957 169,452 149,384 28 17,167 354,361

Movements 1.01.2011-31.12.2011
Additions 592 0 0 64 5 74,703 75,364

Reclassified from construction in progress 0 537 1,593 15,492 0 -17,622 0

Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 21) 0 0 0 0 0 1,868 1,868

Disposals in carrying amount 0 0 0 -37 0 0 -37

Prepayments -126 0 0 0 0 0 -126

Depreciation charge 0 -485 -9,794 -10,643 -12 0 -20,934

Impairment charge 0 0 -31 -31 0 0 -62

Total movements 1.01.2011-31.12.2011 466 52 -8,232 4,845 -7 58,949 56,073

Property, plant and equipment on 31.12.2011
Cost on 31.12.2011 4,839 17,326 236,957 216,322 54 0 475,498

Accumulated depreciation 0 -3,317 -75,737 -62,093 -33 0 -141,180

Carrying amount on 31.12.2011 4,839 14,009 161,220 154,229 21 0 334,318
Construction in progress 0 0 0 0 0 76,116 76,116

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUiPMENT ON 31.12.2011

4,839 14,009 161,220 154,229 21 76,116 410,434
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Construction in progress mainly consists of construction of substations and electricity transmission 
lines. Upon completion, cost of these assets is recognised as cost of buildings, machinery and  
equipment and facilities.

Additions to construction in progress during financial year include capitalised borrowing costs of 
1,868 thousand euros (2010: 982 thousand euros). The capitalisation rate was 5.2% (2010:4.4%).

In 2010, the Company launched preparations for the construction of the second connection 
between Estonia and Finland (EstLink 2), including thorough renovation of the current lines for 
the purpose of increasing their throughput capacity. As a result of the activities mentioned 
above, some of the obsolete assets related to the lines were written down  
(2010: EUR 2,744 thousand, 2009: EUR 0) and the lines were renovated.

See further information on operating lease of property, plant and equipment in Note 22.

Note 10

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

in thousands of euros

Acquired
software and 

licenses
Right of use

of land Total

intangible assets on 01.01.2010
Cost at 1.1.2010 40 1,027 1,067

Accumulated amortisation -16 -33 -49

Carrying amount on 1.1.2010 24 994 1,018
Intangible assets not yet available for use 963 0 963

Total intangible assets on 1.1.2010 987 994 1,981

Movements 1.1.2010-31.12.2010:
Additions 945 168 1,113

Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 21) 54 0 54

Amortisation charge -36 -12 -48

Total movements 1.1.2010-31. 12.2010 963 156 1,119

intangible assets on 31.12.2010
Cost at 31.12.2010 215 1,195 1,410

Accumulated amortisation -52 -45 -97

Carrying amount on 31.12.2010 163 1,150 1,313
Intangible assets not yet available for use 1,787 0 1,787

Total intangible assets on 31.12.2010 1,950 1,150 3,100

Movements 1.01.2011-31.12.2011
Additions 794 15 809

Capitalised borrowing costs (Note 21) 63 0 63

Amortisation charge -237 -12 -249

Total movements 1.01.2011-31.12.2011 620 3 623

in thousands of euros

Acquired
software and 

licenses
Right of use

of land Total

intangible assets on 31.12.2011
Cost at 31.12.2011 2,631 1,210 3,841

Accumulated amortisation -289 -57 -346

Carrying amount 31.12.2011 2,342 1,153 3,495
Intangible assets not yet available for use 228 0 228

TOTAL iNTANGiBLE ASSETS ON 31.12.2011 2,570 1,153 3,723

Note 11

BORROWINGS

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Long-term borrowings 
Long-term bank loan 0 185,695

Issued bonds 221,639 0
Total long-term borrowings 221,639 185,695

The Company’s borrowings are denominated in currencies as follows:

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Borrowings denominated in euros 221,639 185,695
Total borrowings 221,639 185,695

The average interest on borrowings was 5.1% in 2011 (2010: 4.28%).

The Company has used the following types of facilities for financing purposes:

Until 13.07.2011 that Company had a syndicated loan in the amount of 187 million euros. The 
currency was euro and the interest rate was Euribor + 3.00%. According to the loan agree-
ment the Company had the right to choose between 3-month and 6-month Euribor for each 
following interest period. Euribor was fixed one day prior to the beginning of the new interest 
period: the Company’s management decided whether to fix the interest rate for three or six 
months, depending on which option was expected to be more favourable. On 12.07.2011 the 
Company issued Eurobonds with maturity of seven years and the nominal value of 225 million 
euros, used for refinancing the above mentioned syndicate loan. Bonds’ coupon is fixed at 
4.625% p.a. and interest payments are made once a year. The initial offering price formed 
98.812% of the nominal value and the arrangement expenses were 479 thousand euros.

Until 08.01.2010 the Company had a loan agreement with Eesti Energia AS. In 2010 the interest  
rate was 4.88%. The Company refinanced the loan on 08.01.2010 with syndicated loan.
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As of 31.12.2011 and 31.12.2010, the Company had undrawn loan facilities in the total amount 
of 100,000 thousand euros as of 31.12.2011 (31.12.2010: 100,000 thousand euros). The right to 
take out a portion of the loan granted by the European Investment Bank (75,000  thousand 
euros) or the full amount of it is effective during 36 months from the signing of the contract 
on 18.11.2010. In accordance with the contract entered into with Nordic Investment Bank on 
20.10.2010, either a portion or the full amount of the loan (25,000 thousand euros) can be 
taken during the period of 8.07.2011-31.12.2014. For both contracts, the interest rate will be 
agreed prior to taking out each portion.

Overdraft
From 8.01.2010 to 13.07.2011 the Company had at its disposal four overdraft contracts totally 
amounting to 20 million euros, all with floating interest rates based on Euribor. On 13.07.2011 
the given contracts were terminated and a new overdraft contract was concluded with the 
limit of 20 million euros with the floating interest rate based on Euribor.

During the period of 1.01.2010-8.01.2010 and in 2009, the Company used the overdraft obtai-
ned from its then parent Eesti Energia AS. The interest rate was 4.88% (2009: 4.81%). On the 
date of taking out the syndicated loan referred to in the previous section, the total amount 
of the overdraft was paid back to Eesti Energia AS and the respective overdraft contract was 
terminated.

As of 31.12.2011 and 31.12.2010 the Company did not use overdraft.

Note 12

TRADE AND OThER pAYABLES

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Trade payables 20,067 16,311

 Incl: trade payables to related parties (Note 23) 12,586 8,111

Payables for purchased property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 9,305 2,481

 Incl: payables to related parties (Note 23) 1 3

Subsidies due to electricity producers (Notes 2 and 8) 0 15,084

Accrued interest 4,904 1,737

Other payables 125 77

 Incl: payables to related parties (Note 23) 57 32

Total financial liabilities within trade and other payables  
excl accrued interest 29,497 33,953

Total financial liabilities within trade and other payables 34,401 35,690
Taxes payable: 387 417
Social security tax 169 186

Personal income tax 91 108

Unemployment insurance tax 18 20

Contributions to mandatory funded pension 6 5

Corporate income tax and income tax on fringe benefits 4 3

Excise tax 99 95

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Accrued expenses - employee benefits: 426 223
Wages and salaries 184 0

Bonuses 90 50

Holiday pay 90 116

Social security and unemployment insurance tax 62 57

Other payables 134 11
Total trade and other payables 35,348 36,341

Note 13

DEFERRED INCOME FROM CONNECTION AND GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Income from connection and other service fees

in thousands of euros

Deferred income from connection and other service fees on 1.1.2010 22,148

Movements 1.1.2010-31.12.2010:
Connection and other service fees received 1,329

Connection and other service fees recognised as revenue -1,147

Deferred income from connection and other service fees on 31.12.2010 22,330

Movements 1.01.2011-31.12.2011:
Connection and other service fees received 2,969

Connection and other service fees recognised as revenue (Note 15) -1,222

Deferred income from connection and other service fees on 31.12 2011 24,077

Income from government grants

in thousands of euros

Prepayments related to government grants on 31.12.2010 15,149

Movements 1.01.2011-31.12.2011:
Subsidies used -98

Government grants recognised as revenue (Note 16) -6

Prepayments related to government grants on 31.12.2011 15,045
 incl. long-term prepayments 15,045
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Note 14

EqUITY

The Company’s share capital consists of 149,890 shares with the nominal value of 1,000 
thousand euros (31.12.2010: one share with the nominal value of 140,000 thousand euros). 
The shares have been paid for in full.

In 2011, with the resolution of the sole shareholder, the share capital was increased by 9,890 
thousand euros, with issue of 9,890 new common shares. The new shares were paid for in 
September 2011.

In 2010, with the resolution of the sole shareholder, the share capital was increased by 5,786 
thousand euros. The payment for the increase in the nominal value of the share was made in 
December 2010. 

No dividends were paid in the financial years 2011 and 2010. 

As of 31.12.2011 the Company’s statutory reserve capital totalled 3,490 thousand euros 
(31.12.2010: 2,814 thousand euros). As at 31.12.2011 the Company has the obligation to additio-
nally transfer 1,025 thousand euros (31.12.2010: 676 thousand euros) to reserve capital.

The retained earnings of the Company as of 31.12.2011 amounted to 36,889 thousand euros 
(31.12.2010: 17,063 thousand euros). The income tax applicable to the net profit distributable 
as dividends is 21/79 from 1 January 2008. As of 31.12.2011 it would be possible to distribute  
28,333 thousand euros as net dividends (31.12.2010: 12,946 thousand euros) and the corres-
ponding income tax would amount to 7,531 thousand euros (31.12.2010: 3,441 thousand euros).

Note 15

REVENUE

Analysis of revenue by activity

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Sales of balancing and control electricity
Balancing electricity 15,314 15,708

Control service 260 125

Total Sales of balancing and control electricity 15,574 15,833

Sales of network services
Transmission fees 73,031 67,239

Revenue from connection fees (Note 13) 1,222 1,147

Other network services* 2,681 2,339

Total sales of network services 76,934 70,725

Analysis of revenue by activity

Sales of other goods and services
Lease of transmission equipment (Note 22) 820 820

Sales of scrap metal 91 706

Sales of other services 697 778

 Incl. lease of buildings (Note 22) 317 411

Other goods 40 3

Total sales of other goods and services 1,648 2,307
Total revenue 94,156 88,865

Analysis of revenue by geographical location of customers

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Estonia 91,284 86,983

Latvia 2,282 1,247

Russia 364 380

Lithuania 61 238

Finland 165 17

Total revenue 94,156 88,865

Note 16

OThER INCOME

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Fines, penalties and compensations received 114 20

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 22 61

Foreign grants for operating expenses 105 0

Government grants related to acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6 0

Other income 0 5

Total other income 247 86

Note 17

GOODS, RAW MATERIALS AND SERVICES

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Electricity purchased to provide the balancing service
Purchase of balancing electricity 9,570 9,531

Purchase of power regulation service 5,602 5,893

Total electricity purchased to provide the balancing service 15,172 15,424
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in thousands of euros 2011 2010

System services
Purchased electricity reserves 5,012 4,298

Reactive energy 283 162

Total system services expenses 5,295 4,460

Electricity to compensate for network losses
Electricity from non-renewable sources 10,438 11,397

Total electricity to compensate for network losses 10,438 11,397

Maintenance and repair works
On facilities and equipment related to core activities 4,362 4,357

On production buildings and sites 670 729

Disassembly works and waste processing 56 130

Other expenses 153 197

Total maintenance and repair works 5,241 5,413

Other expenses
Operative switching and dispatching management expenses 601 576

Other expenses 592 485

Total other expenses 1,193 1,062
Total goods, raw materials and services 37,339 37,756

Note 18

OThER OpERATING ExpENSES

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Transportation and tools 97 79

Security, insurance and occupational safety 167 276

Office expenses 495 413

Research and consulting 509 394

Telecommunication 936 899

Information technology 365 432

Training and other operating expenses 608 450

Total other operating expenses 3,177 2,943

Note 19

STAFF COSTS

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Basic salaries, additional remuneration, bonuses, vacation pay 2,804 2,723

Other benefits 0 15

Termination benefits 18 12

Other remuneration 118 81

Total remuneration to employees 2,940 2,831

Social security tax 972 938

Unemployment insurance tax 37 35

Total staff costs 3,949 3,804

 Including compensations to the members of the  
      Management and Supervisory Board

Salaries, additional remuneration bonuses, vacation pay 205 201

Fringe benefits 29 18

Social security tax 77 72

Total compensations to the members of the Management and 
Supervisory Boards 311 291

The average monthly pay was 1,706 euros (2010: 1,681 euros).

Termination benefits
The members of the Management Board receive compensation for premature termination of 
their employment contracts, such compensation amounts up to the three months’ salary.

Note 20

OThER ExpENSES

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Non-business related expenses 44 28

Fines, penalties and compensations paid 24 0

Income tax from expenses not related to business 1 5

Other 57 8

Total other expenses 126 41
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Note 21

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Finance income
Interest income 661 85

Foreign exchange gains 0 1

Total finance income 661 86

Finance costs
Interest expenses -10,655 -8,364

Foreign exchange losses -3 -6

Total finance costs -10,658 -8,370

Capitalised finance costs (Notes 9 and 10) 1,931 1,035

Total finance income and costs recognised in the statement  
of comprehensive income -8,727 -7,335

Net finance income (costs) -8,066 -7,249

Note 22

OpERATING LEASE

 
Company as a lessor

Operating lease revenue

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Buildings 317 411

Transmission equipment 820 820

Total operating lease revenue (Note 15) 1,137 1,231

Transmission equipment
The Company has an operating lease contract under which the free fibres of the fibre-optic 
cable fixed to the line masts are leased out. This cable also acts as a lightning protection cord 
for the lines and the fibres are used by the Company for its technical communication. The free 
fibres have been leased out to Televõrgu AS. The lease contract contains a restriction under 
which the Company cannot give its transmission equipment out for use by other companies 
operating in the telecommunications field. The contract is effective until 31.03.2025. Annual 
lease payments variy depending on the length of fibres leased out during the year.

Information about assets (facilities) leased out under operating leases

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Cost 5,961 5,795

Accumulated depreciation at the end of period -2,601 -2,171

Carrying amount 3,360 3,624

Depreciation charge

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Depreciation charge  429  365

Estimated future lease payments under operating leases

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Not later than 1 year 840 820

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3,360 3,278

Later than 5 years 6,930 7,581

Total future minimum lease payments 11,130 11,679

Company as a lessee
Operating lease expenses

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Buildings 36 36

Transport equipment 64 56

Other machinery and equipment 60 94

Total operating lease expenses 160 186

All operating leases where the Company is a lessee can be terminated upon short notice.

Note 23

BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITh RELATED pARTIES

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if 
one party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint 
control over the other party in making financial and operational decisions. In considering each 
possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, 
not merely the legal form:

(I) Republic of Estonia and the entities under its control or significant influence
(II) Management and Supervisory Boards
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(III) Close relatives of the persons described above and the entities under their control or 
significant influence

(IV) Until 27.01.2010 parent company and other entities in the consolidation group of the 
parent company (i.e. fellow subsidiaries) 

The outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

in thousands of euros 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Trade receivables
Companies controlled or significantly influenced by the State 14,412 17,473

Total trade receivables 14,412 17,473
 incl. from network operators 13,775 16,006

Trade payables and other liabilities
Companies controlled or significantly influenced by the State 12,644 8,146

Total trade payables and other liabilities 12,644 8,146

Income and expense items with related parties were as follows:

in thousands of euros Related party 2011 2010

Revenue from sale of goods and services Parent company* 0 501

Fellow subsidiaries * 0 8,388

Companies controlled or 
significantly influenced by 
the State

81,994 69,676

Total revenue from sale of goods and 
services

81,994 78,565

Purchase of goods and services Parent company* 0 347

Fellow subsidiaries* 0 1,889

Companies controlled or
significantly influenced by 
the State

23,693 13,734

Total purchase of goods and services  23,693 15,970
Interest expenses Parent company* 0 178

Incl. Capitalised borrowing costs  
(Note 21) 0 -19

Expenditures on non-current assets Parent company* 0 24

Fellow subsidiaries * 0 135

 
Companies controlled or 
significantly influenced by 
the State

1,302 59

Total expenditures on non-current assets 1,302 218

* the Company was part of Eesti Energia Group until 27.01.2010. The sales to related parties in 2010 also include the transactions 
with the entities of Eesti Energia Group concluded in January 2010.

Transactions with companies, in which the members of the Supervisory and Management 
Boards as well as their close relatives have significant influence

in thousands of euros 2011 2010

Purchases of services 0 1

Key management personnel compensations are disclosed in Note 19.

Note 24

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Network development obligations
Under the Electricity Market Act, the network operator must develop the network within its 
service area in a way that ensures the continued provision of network services in accordance 
with the set requirements.

Capital expenditure commitments
On 31.12.2011, the Company has contractual capital expenditure commitments in respect of 
property, plant and equipment totalling 294,226 thousand euros (31.12.2010: 231,264  thousand  
euros). The largest of them are the contracts for the construction of the second undersea 
electricity cable EstLink 2 between Estonia and Finland in 2011-2014. The contribution of the 
Company is 126,406 thousand euros and expenditure on emergency reserve power plant is  
113,591 thousand euros in 2011-2014. 

Tax legislation
The tax authorities have the right to verify the Company’s tax records up to 6 years from the 
time of submitting the tax declaration and upon finding errors, impose additional taxes, interest  
and fines. The Company’s management estimates that there are not any circumstances 
which may lead the tax authorities to impose additional significant taxes on the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

(Translation of the Estonian original)∗

Report on the Financial Statements 

To the Shareholder of Elering AS 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Elering AS (the Company), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2011 and the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management Board is responsible for the preparation, and true and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union, and for such internal control as the Management Board determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation, and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.  

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as of 31 December 2011, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union.

2 (2) 

Report on the Legal and Regulatory Requirements

During the audit we have not noted any material inconsistencies between the accompanying financial 
statements and the regulatory requirements as set out in Electricity Market Act and legislation 
established on the basis thereof. 

AS PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Ago Vilu 
Auditor’s Certificate No.325 

30 March 2012 

                                                            
∗ This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Estonian. All 
possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the 
original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original 
language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.



pROFIT ALLOCATION pROpOSAL

The retained earnings of Elering AS as of 31.12.2011 were 36,888,763 euros.

Management Board of Elering AS proposes to the sole shareholder  
to allocate the retained earnings as follows:

Statutory legal reserve  1,025,052 euros

Retained earnings  35,863,711 euros

SIGNATURES OF ThE MANAGEMENT TO ThE 2011 ANNUAL REpORT

The signing of Elering AS 2011 Annual Report on 30.03.2012.

Taavi Veskimägi 

Chairman of the Management Board

Kalle Kilk

Member of the Management Board

peep Soone

Member of the Management Board
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ThE REVENUE OF ELERING AS ACCORDING TO EMTAK 2008

The revenue of Elering AS is divided by the main areas of activities as follows:

EMTAK* area of activity 2011 2010

35121 Transmission of electricity – transmission through the transmission network 77,314 70,725

35141 Trade of electricity (balancing electricity) 15,574 15,833

77399 Renting and leasing of other machinery, equipment and tangible goods n.e.c. 820 820

47770 Retail sale of other second-hand goods 131 709

68201 Renting and operating of own or leased real estate 317 406

* EMTAK – classification of Estonian economic activities

86



Kadaka tee 42 / 12915 Tallinn
ESTONIA
phone: +372 715 1222
fax: +372 715 1200
e-mail: info@elering.ee

www.elering.ee


